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          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Good afternoon,

          3  everybody. We are here today, the City Council's

          4  Public Safety Committee, and the Subcommittee of the

          5  City Council on Mental Health, Mental Retardation,

          6  Alcoholism and Drug Abuse Services

          7  , to look into the procedures of the New York City

          8  Police Department when handling emotionally

          9  disturbed person calls, and the level of training of

         10  police officers to handle these individuals.

         11                 This issue has become of interest due

         12  to the tragic deaths within the last year or so of

         13  Gideon Bush on August 30th, 1999, and Kevin

         14  Cerbelli, on October 25th, 1998.

         15                 These two incidents, although extreme

         16  in outcome, are cause for concern.

         17                 In 1998, I understand that the NYPD

         18  responded to about 36,000 emotionally disturbed

         19  person calls, about ten percent of which resulted in

         20  an arrest.

         21                 The Department must interact with

         22  emotionally disturbed persons under the State Mental

         23  Hygiene Law, and under the recently enacted Kendra's

         24  Law, the NYPD will be asked to interact with more

         25  emotionally disturbed persons than ever before.
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          2                 Thus, there is a need for an

          3  oversight hearing on the policies and procedures for

          4  handling emotionally disturbed persons.

          5                 We will review the Department's

          6  patrol guide, Section 106-11, which outlines how

          7  officers should act when confronted with an

          8  emotionally disturbed person. We will see if these

          9  guidelines are followed, and if so, whether they are

         10  sufficient.

         11                 When confronted with an emotionally

         12  disturbed person, an officer must assess the

         13  situation as to whether there is an immediate, an

         14  immediate threat of serious physical injury or death

         15  to himself or others, close quote. If not, the

         16  emotionally disturbed person should be contained

         17  until a supervisor arrives, unless the emotionally

         18  disturbed person surrenders into custody

         19  voluntarily.

         20                 If, yes, the officer shall take

         21  reasonable measures to terminate or prevent such

         22  behavior, deadly physical force will be used only as

         23  a last resort to protect the life of persons or

         24  officers present, close quote.

         25                 We will pose questions as to what
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          2  constitutes an immediate threat of serious physical

          3  injury.

          4                 We will review the police students'

          5  guide to behavioral science as part of the

          6  curriculum of the Academy and see if it is

          7  sufficient training for cops who are expected more

          8  than ever to deal with emotionally disturbed

          9  persons.

         10                 Police cadets will receive

         11  approximately 16 hours training in the academy and

         12  perhaps as officers they will receive some

         13  occasional retraining during daily roll call.

         14                 At present, most of the members of

         15  the Emergency Services Unit are the ones primarily

         16  trained to deal with emotionally disturbed persons,

         17  however, there is only one unit for every three to

         18  four precincts, we will look at whether this is a

         19  sufficient procedure or if the City should train a

         20  select group of officers to deal with emotionally

         21  disturbed persons and deploy them to each precinct

         22  as is done in other cities.

         23                 We will also look at the use of

         24  non-lethal weapons to assist in containing

         25  emotionally disturbed persons who become immediately
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          2  dangerous.

          3                 We will ask how well equipped

          4  officers and precincts are with such devices, and

          5  how well trained officers are in the use of such

          6  devices.

          7                 Council Member Una Clarke, the Chair

          8  of our Subcommittee.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman.

         11                 Firstly, let me say that the issue of

         12  mental illness and mental health has come full

         13  cycle. You probably heard on yesterday's news that

         14  approximately 50 percent of all persons who suffer

         15  from mental illness never get treatment.

         16                 Our streets are filled with persons

         17  who are mentally ill, as our jails have become the

         18  new mental health facility for persons with mental

         19  health problems.

         20                 We think that the society owes them

         21  more. I think if I had diabetes or heart disease

         22  nobody would want to put me away but the stigma

         23  about mental illness has created for all of us

         24  barriers to care, barriers to service, and I think

         25  that today's hearing wants to emphasize some of that
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          2  because I recognize that for the Police Department,

          3  and we will want to hear from you, have you looked

          4  at what happens in the rest of the country in other

          5  cities where there are large numbers of persons who

          6  under arrest you find to be mentally ill or deranged

          7  and how they handle them, what are some

          8  alternatives.  Because I think any loss of life is

          9  sad, and when we think that the loss of life comes

         10  from somebody who is to protect our life, it becomes

         11  even more difficult for you, the police officer, and

         12  I think that today's hearing, I don't want to go,

         13  and not put on record that this is not new, this new

         14  rash. I can go back to Eleanor Bumpers in 1984, a

         15  woman with a knife and how that was handled. So, I

         16  just want to let you know that this is not to

         17  crucify in any way the Police Department, but it is

         18  to take a hard look at the training police receive,

         19  where they are at the time when somebody who may be

         20  deranged or mentally ill is and who goes out first

         21  to do that and what should we be doing to make sure

         22  people receive treatment, rather than jail time.

         23                 Mr. Chairman, I thank you very much

         24  for co-sponsoring this hearing with me and hope that

         25  at the end of the hearing, we will come up with some
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          2  solutions legislatively.

          3                 Thank you very much.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: That is what I

          5  look forward to too. I am glad to do this with you.

          6                 From my left to right, we are joined

          7  by members of the Committee, Council Members Marty

          8  Golden, Stanley Michels, Victor Robles.

          9                 Carl Smith is the Counsel to the

         10  Subcommittee. Ted Becker, Counsel to the Public

         11  Safety Committee. Bob Enfato, a lawyer on my staff.

         12  Andy Grossman, who is the analyst with our City

         13  Council Finance Division, and Perry Stein.

         14                 Welcome, we look forward to your

         15  testimony and then we will follow with questions.

         16                 Please identify yourselves for the

         17  record.

         18                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Good afternoon,

         19  Mr. Chairman and Miss Chairwoman, and members of the

         20  Public Safety Committee.

         21                 I am Captain Michael DeFilippo from

         22  the New York City Police Department, Office of the

         23  Chief of Patrol, and on behalf of Police

         24  Commissioner Howard Safir, I am here to discuss the

         25  Police Department's training and response to
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          2  emotionally disturbed people.

          3                 With me today are Lieutenant Grace

          4  Telesco and Sergeant Jack Cambria.

          5                 Lieutenant Telesco is the Chairperson

          6  of the Behavioral Sciences Department at the New

          7  York City Police Academy, and she is a doctoral

          8  candidate at Fordham University's Graduate School of

          9  Social Service. Her dissertation will be in the

         10  field of Mental Health.

         11                 Sergeant Jack Cambria is assigned to

         12  the Emergency Service Unit, our Rescue Unit, and he

         13  organizes the additional training the unit receives

         14  for its response to individuals who suffer from

         15  mental illness.

         16                 I would like to provide to you as an

         17  overview the various stages of an aided case

         18  involving an emotionally disturbed individual, and

         19  to mesh the various levels of training the

         20  responders have with the scenario to demonstrate in

         21  practical terms our commitment to treating the

         22  individual as someone who is in need of medical

         23  treatment, our commitment to the safety of everyone

         24  involved, and our commitment to the preservation of

         25  life. Our underlying philosophy in all police
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          2  contacts is to use deadly force only as a last

          3  resort.

          4                 Starting in the Police Academy, the

          5  Behavioral Science curriculum is strongly committed

          6  to the education of police recruits in the field of

          7  mental health, and trains them to respond

          8  appropriately to people who suffer from mental

          9  illness.

         10                 The recruit is taught that the

         11  individual he or she is in contact with is in a

         12  state of distress. The officer's most effective

         13  tactic is his or her ability to talk to the

         14  individual and to de-escalate the situation. And

         15  before I go any further I must apologize, I would

         16  like to introduce one other person sitting at the

         17  table, Ms. Susan Petito, the Director from the

         18  Deputy Commissioner of Legal Matters.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: She needs no

         20  introduction. She has been coming to our meetings

         21  for ten years?

         22                 MS. PETITO: Many years.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Many years.

         24                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Thank you.

         25                 The behavioral science curriculum
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          2  taught to police recruits consists of four tracts of

          3  learning, Effective Communication and Cultural

          4  Competence, Ethics and Mental Health, Crisis

          5  Intervention and the Service Role.

          6                 Police recruits are introduced to the

          7  concept of mental illness beginning with a

          8  discussion of mental health. We believe that if they

          9  understand what is good mental health, recruit

         10  officers are in a better position to recognize the

         11  characteristics of mental illness.

         12                 We teach the student officer that

         13  mental health is a relative term and it can mean

         14  many things to many people. In essence, they are

         15  taught that people with good mental health have a

         16  positive self-image and relate well to others, and

         17  that mental health is the ability to integrate

         18  oneself with one's environment.

         19                 However, life's challenges and crisis

         20  events negatively impact upon good mental health.

         21  Coping mechanisms fail and an individual begins to

         22  experience a disorder in functioning. It is at this

         23  point in the recruit training that the student

         24  officers are introduced to the concept of mental

         25  illness.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            13

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 In our recruit training, we emphasize

          3  that mental illness can affect people differently

          4  and that the same illness can have very different

          5  symptoms at different times, in different people.

          6  Also, the recruit is taught that the symptoms do not

          7  necessarily develop in a clearly defined manner.

          8                 Our recruits are then engaged in a

          9  discussion concerning the myths associated with

         10  mental illness, to dispel those myths, and to

         11  clarify that people with mental illness are usually

         12  intelligent but have difficulty performing at a

         13  normal level due to their illness.

         14                 We teach them the difference between

         15  neurotic behavior and psychotic episodes. It is safe

         16  to assume that everyone suffers from some form of

         17  neurosis to some varying degree. Although there are

         18  many categories of mental illness, we discuss those

         19  domains most relevant to police work, such as

         20  schizophrenia, depression and bipolar disorder.

         21  Additionally, substance-abuse related disorders,

         22  anxiety disorders, and personality disorders are

         23  discussed.

         24                 The student officer is taught that

         25  not all people with mental illness are dangerous and
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          2  in many cases the individual will comply with our

          3  request to go to a psychiatric emergency room

          4  without incident.

          5                 In fact, our statistics reflect that

          6  training. In 1998, the New York City Police

          7  Department received 64,000 radio runs that involved

          8  emotionally disturbed people. In 25,000 cases it was

          9  necessary to bring the individuals to a psychiatric

         10  emergency room for evaluation.

         11                 Of those 25,000 people taken to

         12  hospitals, the emergency service unit was only

         13  involved in 1900 removals.

         14                 Recruit training focuses much of its

         15  attention on assessment. Evaluating apparently

         16  mentally ill behavior, as well as the threat level

         17  of the individual, is an operational necessity.

         18                 In many cases that assessment must

         19  happen in seconds without the aid of medical

         20  treatises.

         21                 Unlike clinical social workers,

         22  psychologists, and psychiatrists who have the luxury

         23  of time while conducting an intake interview,

         24  recruit officers are reminded that they are expected

         25  to make quick assessments to determine if the
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          2  individual is exhibiting behavior which demonstrates

          3  apparently mentally ill behavior, and to evaluate

          4  that behavior, not only for the safety of the

          5  mentally ill individual, but for the safety of

          6  innocent bystanders, family members, friends,

          7  emergency medical technicians and the officers

          8  themselves. This is not an easy task.

          9                 Once this assessment has been made,

         10  the officer is then trained to follow Patrol Guide

         11  procedure 106-11, which stresses that if an

         12  emotionally disturbed person is not immediately

         13  dangerous, the person should be isolated and

         14  contained until help arrives.

         15                 According to the Mental Hygiene Law,

         16  police officers may take a person into custody and

         17  transport him or her to a psychiatric hospital if

         18  the person appears to be mentally ill and conducting

         19  themselves in a manner which is likely to result in

         20  serious harm to themselves or others. Four major

         21  points underscore our procedure:

         22                 - Assessment.

         23                 - Isolation and containment.

         24                 - Zone of safety.

         25                 - Request for specialization and
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          2  supervision.

          3                 The first responders must ask

          4  critical questions:

          5                 - Are there any weapons in the

          6  apartment?

          7                 - Are there any other people in the

          8  apartment?

          9                 - What is the emotionally disturbed

         10  person's name?

         11                 - Is there a telephone in the

         12  apartment?

         13                 - Does anyone on the scene know the

         14  layout of the apartment?

         15                 - Is there a history of mental

         16  illness?

         17                 - Is there a history of violence?

         18                 - If so, what is the frequency of

         19  violence?

         20                 - What is the severity of violence?

         21                 - Is substance abuse involved?

         22                 - Is medication prescribed?

         23                 - Has the person been taking his or

         24  her medication?

         25                 - Has the person been mixing it with
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          2  alcohol or other legal or illegal substances?

          3                 - Finally, what triggered this

          4  episode?

          5                 The answer to these questions form an

          6  information base that becomes part of a tactical

          7  plan that stresses the preservation of human life at

          8  all times.

          9                 The more information that is

         10  available, the easier it is to make the assessment

         11  of mental illness and the level of danger, support

         12  of the family, friends and any other person who may

         13  be of assistance is sought.

         14                 Isolation and containment is the

         15  ability to get the emotionally disturbed person

         16  alone and separated from others, including the first

         17  responding officers.

         18                 Containment means keeping the person

         19  in a place that he cannot escape from and where he

         20  cannot injure himself or others.

         21                 The zone of safety is the distance to

         22  be maintained between the person and the responding

         23  officers.

         24                 Ideally the distance should be

         25  greater than the effective range of any weapon
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          2  possessed by the individual. It varies with each

          3  situation, depending on the type of weapon, the

          4  condition of the person, and the surrounding area. A

          5  minimum distance of 20 feet is recommended.

          6                 However, this is the best case

          7  scenario and not always obtainable.

          8                 If the aided person does not remain

          9  stationary, the responding officers will attempt to

         10  maintain the zone of safety by moving back or taking

         11  appropriate cover.

         12                 When the first officers are

         13  dispatched, the radio dispatcher automatically

         14  directs the patrol supervisor and the emergency

         15  service unit to respond to the scene of an

         16  emotionally disturbed person.

         17                 The New York City Police Department

         18  is the only law enforcement organization in the

         19  country that allocates so many resources to such an

         20  incident in such a short period of time.

         21                 Officers are trained not only to take

         22  the emotionally disturbed person into custody

         23  without specific direction of a supervisor when

         24  possible.

         25                 The officer is trained to isolate and
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          2  contain, maintain a zone of safety and await the

          3  arrival of supervisor and emergency service.

          4                 This approach has developed from our

          5  vast experience with hostage situations and our

          6  profound respect for human life.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We are joined by

          8  Council Member Phil Reed on our left.

          9                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Thank you.

         10                 If we can contain the individual, and

         11  if we can isolate the individual so that he or she

         12  is not a threat to themselves or others, time is on

         13  our side.

         14                 As you may know, our Department,

         15  under the direction of now retired Captain Frank

         16  Bolts, pioneered the concept of hostage

         17  negotiations. Our motto has been replicated by many

         18  law enforcement organizations throughout the world.

         19                 The model involves slowing the

         20  situation down, taking control of the situation, and

         21  talking to the individual on his level to resolve

         22  the situation without the use of force, if possible.

         23                 To that end, the first responders'

         24  role in these situations is to gather information,

         25  isolate, contain and await the arrival of specially
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          2  trained officers who can use their additional

          3  tactics training to diffuse a potentially deadly

          4  situation.

          5                 In addition to the six months of

          6  academy training every police recruit receives,

          7  significant in-service training is devoted to the

          8  handling of emotionally disturbed people.

          9                 Every year our two-day intact

         10  training course provides all officers assigned to

         11  the Patrol, Transit and Housing Bureau commands at

         12  least one hands-on training scenario involving a

         13  mentally ill person.

         14                 Supervisors also receive enhanced

         15  training through the LEAD course on a yearly basis.

         16                 Furthermore, every promotional course

         17  for sergeants, lieutenants and captains, contains a

         18  significant training component on emotionally

         19  disturbed people.

         20                 Our emergency service unit officers

         21  receive an additional six months of training in

         22  rescue operations, tactics and special weapons.

         23                 Special weapons training includes

         24  advance training and non-lethal weapons. The Taser

         25  and Nova stun devices, water distracter, plastic
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          2  shields and velcro restraining straps are a few of

          3  the non-lethal weapons employed by our unit, daily,

          4  to take emotionally disturbed people into custody.

          5                 The Emergency Service Unit police

          6  officers are also New York State certified Emergency

          7  Medical technicians and Emergency Psychological

          8  Technicians.

          9                 In conjunction with the Department of

         10  Mental Health, the Emergency Psychological

         11  Technician course is given at the John Jay College

         12  of Criminal Justice.

         13                 This course teaches officers insights

         14  into different types of mental illness that

         15  professionals in the mental health field deal with

         16  on a daily basis.

         17                 The officers practice their

         18  negotiating skills in a clinical environment with an

         19  actor/trainer who portrays a mentally ill person.

         20                 The only prop used is a wooden door

         21  on a frame. The actor/trainer situates himself on

         22  one side of the door and the officers situate

         23  themselves on the other side. The officers must

         24  negotiate the actor/trainer to surrender.

         25                 In addition, the officers are trained
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          2  on how to deal with family members, friends and

          3  superior officers in these stressful situations. The

          4  feedback on this particular course has been

          5  overwhelmingly positive from all of the

          6  participants.

          7                 At this point in time, in the vast

          8  majority of instances, a prolonged incident

          9  involving an emotionally disturbed person ends with

         10  a successful negotiation.

         11                 However, as a last resort, if the

         12  emotionally disturbed person's actions constitute an

         13  immediate threat of serious physical injury, or

         14  death to himself or others, the first responding

         15  officers are trained to use the least amount of

         16  force necessary to stop or prevent such behavior,

         17  including the use of deadly force where necessary.

         18                 On September 29th, 1983, police

         19  officer Joseph McCormack from Emergency Service

         20  Truck 2 was assigned to court. Upon completion of

         21  his court appearance, he responded to a barricaded

         22  emotionally disturbed person at 1639 Mulford Avenue

         23  in the confines of the 45th Precinct.

         24                 He was assigned to a rear yard team

         25  to cover Hostage Negotiators. The location was
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          2  surrounded by Emergency Service and negotiations

          3  lasted approximately three and a half hours. At a

          4  quarter to three in the afternoon, the emotionally

          5  disturbed person exited the rear door onto an

          6  elevator porch. He shouldered and fired his weapon.

          7  The discharge struck Police Officer McCormack

          8  between his vest folds. He died. Retired Lt. Dave

          9  Schultheis, then a police officer, returned fire and

         10  killed the emotionally disturbed person.

         11                 The example above illustrates that no

         12  matter how well trained an individual officer or

         13  unit is, when dealing with volatile, constantly

         14  changing situations, sometimes the situation

         15  overtakes the responders in an unpredictable way.

         16                 Our legal duty remains the same.

         17  Deadly force is used only as a last resort to

         18  protect the life of persons or officers present.

         19  During the Recruit Training School, an officer is

         20  subjected to a myriad of written tests that measure

         21  the officer's ability to understand the department's

         22  philosophy, regulations and the law. That testing,

         23  however, is not enough.

         24                 The officer must demonstrate the

         25  ability to apply that knowledge in the Firearms and
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          2  Tactics Simulator.

          3                 This is a computerized simulator that

          4  may be manipulated by a computer operator that

          5  challenges an officer to use, or not to use, deadly

          6  force in a given situation.

          7                 The officer's performance is

          8  evaluated by the Commanding Officer of the Police

          9  Academy and reviewed by the Director of Training.

         10                 Additionally, the officer is placed

         11  in a Tactics House, which measures the officer's

         12  response to events in "real life" situations. Again,

         13  the officer's performance is evaluated by the

         14  Commanding Officer of the Police Academy, and

         15  reviewed by the Director of Training.

         16                 In addition to the Firearms and

         17  Tactics Simulator and the Tactics House, in order to

         18  bridge the gap between theory and practice, recruit

         19  officers participate in interactive theater

         20  workshops. There structured improvisation and

         21  reflective team techniques are employed to give the

         22  officer a sense of the vast number of scenarios that

         23  the officer may encounter in the street. The recruit

         24  is exposed to several scenarios involving people

         25  with mental illness like the compulsive talker, the
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          2  conscious but non-responsive, a person

          3  hallucinating, a paranoid person, the armed

          4  aggressive psychotic person, and an elderly person

          5  suffering from Alzheimer's disease.

          6                 The trainers and facilitators of this

          7  theater workshop provide a controlled environment

          8  for recruits to apply the techniques they have

          9  learned in training to "real life" situations. Once

         10  again the recruit's performance is evaluated and

         11  necessary feedback given.

         12                 Every six months all officers

         13  throughout their careers in the Department are

         14  required to demonstrate their proficiency in the use

         15  of their firearms.

         16                 As we continue to learn about human

         17  behavior and mental illness and as new laws and

         18  resources become available to us, we are committed

         19  to re-evaluating our curriculum, our procedures and

         20  our methods in dealing with people who appear to be

         21  mentally ill. We are grateful to our curriculum

         22  advisors, who provide us with their assistance and

         23  expertise in the area of mental health.

         24                 Dr. Daniel Herman is a research

         25  scientist at the New York State Psychiatric
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          2  Institute, and a faculty member at Columbia

          3  University in the School of Public Health and

          4  College of Physicians and

          5  Surgeons in the Department of Psychiatry. He has

          6  trained the Police Academy's Behavioral Science

          7  staff in understanding schizophrenia.

          8                 Dr. George Patterson is a professor

          9  at New York University's School of Social Work. He

         10  has also provided us with his expertise in this

         11  area.

         12                 Once again, we wish to extend our

         13  appreciation to both of these distinguished

         14  curriculum advisors who have suggested changes that

         15  we have implemented.

         16                 An ongoing theme throughout our

         17  training is that the safety of all people is

         18  paramount. The responsibility of every police

         19  officer at the scene of an emotionally disturbed

         20  person is to aid the individual, to get the

         21  individual to a psychiatric hospital, and to

         22  accomplish this mission with the least amount of

         23  force necessary.

         24                 Officers are trained to assess the

         25  situation, determine if there is a presence of
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          2  danger, and provide referrals to the individuals for

          3  shelter or other appropriate social services if the

          4  individual is assessed as not dangerous.

          5                 An example of our commitment to

          6  evaluate and change this department's procedures is

          7  Project Lifenet. To aid the families and friends of

          8  non-dangerous individuals, officers in eight

          9  precincts throughout the City are now or will soon

         10  be participating in this pilot project.

         11                 Lifenet is an organization that

         12  maintains an up-to-date list of many social services

         13  available to individuals who are experiencing

         14  problems with alcohol or drugs.

         15                 In addition, Lifenet is a conduit to

         16  mobile crisis outreach teams. These teams are

         17  dispatched to people who are in outpatient therapy

         18  and who are not complying with their outpatient

         19  therapy.

         20                 Before Project Lifenet, a family was

         21  often times on their own. Now the police have a

         22  resource to call when they arrive at the scene of an

         23  emotionally disturbed person and are legally unable

         24  to help that individual because that person is not a

         25  threat to himself or others in need of some
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          2  intervention.

          3                 I would now be happy to answer any

          4  questions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

          6  much, Captain DeFilippo, you have let out a lot of

          7  basic information which we are seeking.

          8                 We are joined on my left by Council

          9  Member Michael Nelson from Brooklyn, the Borough

         10  Park area I think.

         11                 What I would like to get into is

         12  responses by ordinary officers on patrol to these

         13  sorts of incidents.

         14                 You said in your testimony there were

         15  just about 65,000 radio runs made in 1998, that is

         16  almost, roughly speaking almost 200 runs per day on

         17  average. That is an awful lot of runs.

         18                 Ordinary patrol officers respond in

         19  the overwhelming number of cases to -- as the first

         20  officers who come in contact with emotionally

         21  disturbed persons; is that correct?

         22                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Officers on patrol

         23  will respond to each of those runs, yes. Ordinary

         24  patrol officers in a radio car.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right, most of
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          2  the time.

          3                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: But in addition to

          4  that, as soon as that call comes into 911, not only

          5  are two officers in a radio car assigned, but the

          6  patrol supervisor and his driver are assigned and

          7  also the emergency service unit is sent on that job.

          8  So, you have a total of six police officers, or

          9  actually five police officers and one sergeant

         10  responding to each EDP run. We have the most

         11  resources committed to that of any law enforcement

         12  organization in the country.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         14                 The ordinary patrol officers, you

         15  went through some of their training in here, how

         16  many hours of training do they receive at the

         17  academy of handling emotionally disturbed persons?

         18                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: The entire

         19  behavioral science curriculum is approximately 106

         20  hours, and that is testable hours.

         21                 In addition to that, if you were to

         22  total up the whole academy training in behavioral

         23  sciences, they get 150 hours of training. Of that

         24  150 hours of training, about three-quarters are

         25  dedicated to mental health issues, crisis
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          2  intervention, conflict resolution, personality,

          3  understanding personality. So, because policing is

          4  really about 100 percent people oriented and people

          5  are so complex, we need to really address a lot of

          6  the mental health issues in the curriculum.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And dealing with

          8  violence, emotionally disturbed persons out of 150

          9  hours, about how many such hours will be devoted to

         10  them approximately?

         11                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: In the recruit

         12  training it is approximately, anywhere between 12 to

         13  15 hours, just dealing with violent emotionally

         14  disturbed persons, when the police would be called

         15  to a 911 assignment where it was an EDP, 1054 aided

         16  case, to handle an emotionally disturbed person.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         18                 You have outlined some in your

         19  statement, the types of training.

         20                 What I would like to do is give you a

         21  hypothetical and ask how officers will be instructed

         22  to deal with a hypothetical.

         23                 Obviously they vary from case to

         24  case. Say there is a group of six officers who

         25  approach an emotionally disturbed person who has a
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          2  wooden stick, say with a piece of metal at the end

          3  of the stick. The person is on the sidewalk

          4  screaming, yelling, they think it is incoherent,

          5  doesn't make sense. He slowly backs away from the

          6  police officer, shaking his stick at the officers,

          7  then raising it, they establish the zone of safety

          8  that you outlined, then he approaches the officers

          9  swinging his stick. Now, you said that deadly

         10  physical force is only used as a last resort to

         11  protect the live of the uniformed members or any

         12  other person present. In that instance, is there an

         13  immediate threat of physical harm?

         14                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: In the

         15  hypothetical that you gave me?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes.

         17                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: The zone of

         18  safety, depending on how the zone of safety was

         19  restricted.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Say it is the 20

         21  feet that --

         22                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Well, that would

         23  be the best case scenario. Can we say maybe ten

         24  feet? Or five feet?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, say he
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          2  takes a step into the zone of safety.

          3                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: One step into the

          4  zone of safety?

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes.

          6                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: It's --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is not meant

          8  to be a trick question.

          9                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: No, I am just

         10  saying, I mean it is a very fluid situation. And

         11  what I am saying to you is that if someone were

         12  swinging a stick with a piece of metal attached to

         13  it, and was taking steps forward to me, and

         14  threatening my life, I would not have any problem

         15  using deadly physical force in that instance.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You would not?

         17                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Absolutely not.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Why not? I

         19  thought it was supposed to be only a last resort.

         20  Why not --

         21                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: And that would

         22  constitute a situation where that is a last resort.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Isn't there

         24  another resort and that is to step back, and to deal

         25  with the situation in that way?
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          2                 I mean, we are about 20 feet apart.

          3  If somebody moves from here to there and is

          4  wielding, you know, a stick with a piece of metal,

          5  why from this distance to you would you use deadly

          6  physical force? That does not seem to me to be a

          7  last resort.

          8                 A person couldn't even kill you.

          9                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: With a piece of

         10  metal attached to a stick?

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes.

         12                 You assume the person is going to

         13  throw it and hit you right in the middle of the head

         14  and knock you --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Mr. Chairman,

         16  it is not fair to go to hypotheticals.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think it is

         18  fair. Look, Mr. Golden, you can ask your questions

         19  your way, I have spent a lot of time asking

         20  questions in my life, going to law school.

         21                 You see, the whole thing, Mr. Golden,

         22  this is the point: The whole thing depends upon

         23  specifics. It is one thing to give underlying

         24  philosophy, it is another thing to apply it to the

         25  facts of the specific situation. Underlying
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          2  philosophy only gets you so far. What you have to do

          3  is see how it is really taught, how it is really

          4  applied. That is the reason.

          5                 Have I made myself understood?

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: You also

          7  change the hypothetical as you move.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, I haven't.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: You change the

         10  hypothetical continually.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, I haven't. I

         12  have given a hypothetical with an emotionally

         13  disturbed person. Say I am an emotionally disturbed

         14  person, 20 feet from you, and I take a step from

         15  here to there, wielding a stick, and I believe you

         16  said that you consider that to be a reason for using

         17  deadly force, and I have asked simply why.

         18                 MS. PETITO: (Not identified for the

         19  record) Mr. Chairman, if I can address the body? I

         20  think that the use of that particular hypothetical

         21  is very close to an actual case which is currently

         22  pending criminal investigation and criminal

         23  prosecution and I think that I would prefer that

         24  Captain DeFilippo not address that hypothetical.

         25                 I think that all of these situations
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          2  are very fluid and are hypothetical, with certain

          3  facts will never paint an entire picture that a

          4  police officer is faced with in the street. And so,

          5  I think that at this point I would ask him not to

          6  give you an answer on that hypothetical.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I disagree with

          8  you. I don't think -- we haven't even gotten into a

          9  number of different hypotheticals. We have given

         10  first instance of somebody 20 feet from the police

         11  with a stick.

         12                 I mean, you are dealing with 65,000

         13  incidences a year, it seems to me that there can be

         14  loads of instances like that.

         15                 MS. PETITO: Well, I think that is

         16  true, and I think the problem is that this is such a

         17  case-by-case determination, where it is ultimately a

         18  court which will decide after reviewing --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: This is not

         20  meant to be a court case, it is meant to be getting

         21  an understanding of how you train people.

         22                 I mean, it is one thing as to how the

         23  officers react, but I mean unless we know how you

         24  train people to react, we can't even begin to

         25  approach, you know, how the officers react.
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          2                 MS. PETITO: Well, one of the things

          3  that I think we had certainly intended to do is to

          4  invite you to come see some training so that you

          5  could see how we do the training.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I know the way

          7  the Police Department always, you know, we ask one

          8  set of things and they invite us to a show and tell.

          9  That is not the purpose here.

         10                 You know, we welcome invitations,

         11  those of us, you know, who wish to go, you know, can

         12  go and will go, but here we are trying to get at

         13  specifics of how you address individual situations.

         14                 You know, I have asked a question and

         15  I don't see why it is so difficult to answer this

         16  first instance question.

         17                 You know, I have got six pages of

         18  questions. This is the easiest.

         19                 MS. PETITO: I think the issue is

         20  answering a hypothetical is problematic because you

         21  can always select certain facts to put into the

         22  hypothetical, but a situation in the street will

         23  always be much more complex.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No question

         25  about that, but if you don't begin as to -- and that
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          2  is part of what you no doubt teach your recruits,

          3  but the first thing is, you know, the simple

          4  question, 20 feet away, that is what you want,

          5  right? The person steps forward two feet and then

          6  what? And you can't answer that question because --

          7  I don't see it.

          8                 MS. PETITO: It depends on what is

          9  behind the officers, for example. Can they retreat?

         10  Can they not retreat? I mean, that is not part of

         11  your hypothetical but it would certainly be present

         12  as a factor in a real life situation. What are the

         13  realistic options that a police officer has before

         14  going to the level of deadly physical force.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         16                 MS. PETITO: And that is so dependent

         17  upon very specific location factors and personnel

         18  factors and what weapons do they have at hand, where

         19  is the patrol supervisor, has ESU arrived yet. So

         20  there are many, many factors that make any

         21  hypothetical inadequate to address the richness of a

         22  real life situation.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. And you

         24  are their lawyer, right?

         25                 MS. PETITO: I am lawyer who works --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Do you go to all

          3  of the training circumstances that the police give

          4  to give legal advice? Or is there just a basic way

          5  in which the police dispense the training? That is

          6  all I am trying to get at, how you train.

          7                 MS. PETITO: There is a Law Department

          8  in the Police Academy which trains on the law of

          9  justification, and whether you can use deadly

         10  physical force and under what circumstances. That is

         11  separate and apart that the training that Lieutenant

         12  Telesco discussed. In the law curriculum, Article

         13  35, justification -- Article 35 of the Penal Law,

         14  justification is discussed extensively.

         15                 In the Physical Sciences Department

         16  there is extensive training on how you physically

         17  handle an emotionally disturbed person, as well as

         18  any other person that you need to put into custody

         19  or into arrest.

         20                 So, Lieutenant Telesco described to

         21  you one aspect, "the mentally ill" aspects of the

         22  training, but this training is in many other forms,

         23  in the recruit -- in the academy certainly, and

         24  justification, the use of deadly force especially,

         25  is discussed in the law curriculum.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Mr. Chairman,

          3  a clarification?

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: You are

          6  asking a hypothetical question, you are asking for a

          7  hypothetical answer, also.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Okay, I just

         10  wanted to make sure of that.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Because I am

         13  given to understand from the answer of the attorney

         14  from the Police Department that they have a

         15  situation presently pending, and we certainly don't

         16  want these answers to be used in the court of law.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. This is

         18  your basic type of question as to how you would

         19  train people to react. That is all I am asking you,

         20  how do you train people to react?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS:

         22  Hypothetically.

         23                 MS. PETITO: Well, hypothetically, in

         24  the situation that you described --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: We certainly
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          2  don't want to lose any case for the City.

          3                 MS. PETITO: Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I take it you

          5  are referring to a civil case?

          6                 MS. PETITO: I am referring to any

          7  kind of case that might come out of -- and in that

          8  pattern that you are talking about. There will

          9  undoubtedly be a civil case, that is for certain.

         10                 But I think hypothetically, to

         11  address your hypothetical, I would have to add many

         12  more facts.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, you know,

         14  what I am trying to do is not get at -- I mean, it

         15  is one thing for you who are not in the training of

         16  officers, what we would like to do is know how the

         17  officers are trained.

         18                 So, again, Captain DeFilippo, will

         19  you answer the questions, or you are not going to

         20  answer the thing?

         21                 I am trying to give you an instance

         22  of somebody 20 feet away, contained, who then takes

         23  a step forward. And I take it what you have

         24  responded, you would consider that to be a ground

         25  for use of deadly physical force, if the person has
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          2  a stick with a piece of metal on it?

          3                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Depending on the

          4  other factors that were involved in the situation.

          5  And we have gone into this in the opening statement.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, why not

          7  take a step back? If I take a step forward, why not

          8  you take a step back?

          9                 You were referring to isolating,

         10  containing --

         11                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: The zone of safety

         12  is a fluid zone, and that it can move with the

         13  person if the person chooses to move forward. It

         14  also depends on how fast that person is advancing

         15  and what's behind the officer. If there are

         16  civilians behind the officer, and that person is

         17  charging the officer with a metal, piece of metal

         18  attached to a wooden stick, and swinging it over his

         19  head, and there are innocent civilians standing

         20  behind the officer, and the zone of safety is

         21  quickly diminishing, then deadly physical force is

         22  certainly an option.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, why not

         24  tell people to all move back?

         25                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Because I think
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          2  you are asking for unrealistic expectations.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: If you don't

          4  have certain expectations of your officers, how will

          5  other people have expectations for your officers?

          6                 You begin by saying that the officers

          7  can't be expected to take a step back --

          8                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: The officers have

          9  a legal duty to protect the lives of everyone, not

         10  just the person who is charging them with a metal

         11  object on a stick.

         12                 The officers have the legal

         13  obligation to protect the life of innocent

         14  bystanders, family, friends, other officers,

         15  emergency technicians, and a myriad of other

         16  circumstances and facts to come out in that

         17  hypothetical situation where you keep changing the

         18  situation, you can change the hypothetical step by

         19  step by step, and I can change the hypothetical step

         20  by step by step, and we will never resolve the

         21  issue.

         22                 The only issue that will be resolved

         23  during this hypothetical dance that we are doing, is

         24  that the fact that we are going to come out with

         25  trying to resolve a situation that is currently
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          2  under litigation and should not be being talked

          3  about here.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: With all

          5  respect, what I think will come out of this is an

          6  appreciation of the fact that there is no substitute

          7  for judgment, that if you don't try to train people

          8  in the varieties of possible scenarios and how one

          9  fact, an additional fact changes proper response,

         10  then your offices will give a, shall we use the term

         11  wooden mechanical type of response in which the

         12  philosophy of we will do everything possible is lost

         13  in its application, and that is why I submit to you

         14  really with respect that the essence of trying to

         15  train people sensibly, at least --

         16                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: I certainly

         17  disagree with the fact that you say that the

         18  application of our training is lost because we do

         19  have one of the most restrained Police Departments

         20  in the use of deadly force out of any city in the

         21  nation.

         22                 And in addition to that, I think

         23  Lieutenant Telesco can now answer some questions

         24  regarding the types of theater workshops the

         25  recruits are exposed to in their training, as was
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          2  mentioned in my opening statement, that addressed

          3  some of the hypothetical situations that you have

          4  raised.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.

          6                 We have also been joined by Council

          7  Member Madeline Provenzano. And Juanita Watkins,

          8  Council Member Juanita Watkins.

          9                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: One of the new

         10  innovative techniques that we are employing in the

         11  training, which have been employed in the training

         12  within the last year and a half now, is a thing

         13  called Reflective Team Exercises. I don't know if

         14  anybody on the Council is familiar with that, it is

         15  used an awful lot in the training of social workers,

         16  clinical psychologists, et cetera, and what

         17  reflective team exercises do, is you have a theater

         18  workshop, you have a scenario, not exactly the

         19  scenario, hypothetical one that you raised, but

         20  something close to that, where there is someone who

         21  is psychotic, they are schizophrenic, they are

         22  apparently mentally ill and they are exhibiting a

         23  danger, they also have a history of violence, and

         24  they have a weapon.

         25                 And so, what we do, and I usually
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          2  facilitate a lot of these workshops, what we will do

          3  is we will have recruit officers responding to the

          4  scene. Now, this is after they have received an

          5  inordinate amount of lecture discussion, they have

          6  seen several films, some of which are from the State

          7  Office of Mental Health curriculum, as well as some

          8  Department-made films. And they have done all of the

          9  reading. So, now in order to bridge the gap, and

         10  kind of like the way you just now did, you just gave

         11  us the scenario to kind of answer, we show them this

         12  is the scenario, let's see how you respond.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         14                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO:  And in terms of

         15  zone of safety, because zone of safety, although

         16  recommended minimum distance as 20 feet, as we have

         17  mentioned earlier, I mean it is very fluid and it is

         18  a judgment call.

         19                 So, that is why reflective team

         20  exercises are so important, because what we do at

         21  the academy is we will freeze the scene, and as

         22  things start to get out of control, or as things

         23  start to go in a way where the officer is missing

         24  the point, and that gap between theory and practice

         25  are not being met, I, as the facilitator, or any one
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          2  of my instructors who act as facilitator, will say

          3  freeze. The lights will go back on and we will

          4  deconstruct the scene. It is kind of like the best

          5  scenario, if you can have that in real life where

          6  you can freeze scenes, and we find it is very, very

          7  effective that way. Rather than at the -- you know,

          8  have the recruit officer go through the whole role

          9  play or structured improvization, and then critique

         10  it at the end, we find it is really helpful to

         11  freeze it along the way and bring out where they

         12  went long, where they misunderstood zone of safety,

         13  where they fail to call for emergency service, where

         14  they fail to call for a patrol supervisor, where

         15  they fail to possibly employ non-lethal tactics.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. So, could

         17  I ask you, it sounds a little bit like the NFL

         18  instant replays, they freeze it and they tell you at

         19  a certain point is there a penalty, not, what if you

         20  change this, that?

         21                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: It is really not

         22  only an evaluative instrument, but it is also an

         23  instrument that can be used in training.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So, can I ask

         25  you then, if the disturbed person walks into the
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          2  zone of safety, takes a step forward, what would you

          3  advise?

          4                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: It really

          5  depends.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Depends on what?

          7                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: Well, it depends

          8  on whatever you would like to throw into the soup.

          9  Whatever you want to put in there in the scenario.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Say we are like

         11  this, and nobody else is in the room and I am here

         12  and, you know, I take a step forward with my stick.

         13                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: Well, can I

         14  freeze this scenario for a second?

         15                 I just want to ask you a question,

         16  what is your mental history? Do we know that? Is

         17  there somebody else here I can ask about that?

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Say it is --

         19                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: Does he have a

         20  history of mental illness?

         21                 Are you on medication? Are you seeing

         22  a doctor right now? Is there any kinds of

         23  substances?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Say it is a

         25  situation where the person is believed to have had a
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          2  history of mental, at least incidents that people

          3  consider to be bizarre, there have been a number of

          4  -- the person is known for being somewhat unusual.

          5                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: Are you alone?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Alone, right.

          7                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: You are alone in

          8  the room.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         10                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: So there isn't

         11  any family members that we could talk to.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Start with that,

         13  right.

         14                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: All right. Do we

         15  have a neighbor that we could go to and talk to and

         16  ask about your mental history?

         17                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well,

         18  presumably. I mean, everyone has neighbors.

         19                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: And you are in

         20  there by yourself?

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes.

         22                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: Well, one of the

         23  things we would want to do is leave you there.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Exactly.

         25                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: Right, we would
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          2  leave you there and we would call for emergency

          3  service.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So you would

          5  move back perhaps, if possible.

          6                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: We have several

          7  films on this, we have a scenario that we act this

          8  one out in particular, and what we advise the

          9  recruit officer to do is to wait for the arrival for

         10  the supervisor and emergency service.

         11                 That scenario that you just now gave

         12  us, that is an easy one.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right, that is

         14  what I thought. I thought it was a relatively easy

         15  one.

         16                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: But you changed

         17  the scenario from the scenario before, and that is a

         18  good idea, because we like to give recruit officers

         19  a lot of barrier scenarios that they are going to

         20  encounter in the street.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: If the person

         22  even takes a couple of steps forward and then you

         23  step back and might you even at some point consider

         24  this threat to be diminished or withdrawn? I mean,

         25  you have re-established a different more safe zone.
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          2                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: A lot of these

          3  issues are discussed when we freeze the scene and

          4  deconstruct it, and we go to the reflective team,

          5  which is the audience, as well as the efforts from

          6  the various disciplines, because all of these

          7  theater workshops are interdisciplinary, and that it

          8  is not just the Behavioral Science Department that

          9  is present, it is also the Law Department to answer

         10  questions of deadly physical force, as well as the

         11  Physical Training and Tactics Department, because

         12  there are many non-lethal ways in which you can take

         13  someone into custody. So we have physical training

         14  and tactics that are on the scene at the theater

         15  workshop to help deconstruct the scene. As well as

         16  the Police Science Department.

         17                 So, you have four various experts

         18  that the recruit officer is exposed to, as well as

         19  their peers, to talk about these kind of

         20  hypothetical scenarios - well, what if this, and

         21  what if that, and what if that.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right. Do you

         23  periodically change the content of this curriculum

         24  depending on experience?

         25                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: Well, you know,
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          2  human behavior is always complex, and it is always

          3  changing and so whatever journals that we look at,

          4  interpersonal violence journals, violence and

          5  victims journals, as well as our curriculum

          6  advisors, as well as the State Office of Mental

          7  Health provides a curriculum that we have used an

          8  awful lot from that curriculum, since 1996 we have

          9  incorporated an awful lot. The Memphis Police

         10  Department, we have looked at their curriculum, we

         11  are constantly looking at ways in which to improve,

         12  particularly bridging the gap between theory and

         13  practice is so crucial.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. I have a

         15  lot of additional questions, but let me just close

         16  this and go on with just one additional question;

         17  and that is, how, if at all, have you changed your

         18  curriculum. Following the incidents involving Gideon

         19  Bush or Kevin Cerbelli?

         20                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: You know,

         21  incidents that are occurring is just like looking at

         22  journal articles that come out about research, new

         23  research, and so we are constantly looking at the

         24  curriculum, it is a never finished product. Never

         25  finished.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So you don't

          3  want to get into the specifics of how you may or may

          4  not have changed your curriculum following that.

          5                 Council Member Una Clarke.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 I served on the Task Force for Police

          9  Community Relations following the Louima incident,

         10  and so I had an opportunity as a person who

         11  understands something about curriculum and

         12  instruction, I am a teacher sitting here as a

         13  politician, and we did some critique, not so much a

         14  criticism as critique, of the curriculum. And I

         15  noticed that you have given us the patrol guide for

         16  aided cases of mentally ill or emotionally disturbed

         17  persons. This patrol guide has been in existence

         18  since 1989, and now I would think that if this was

         19  bread, I would call it stale, recognizing all of the

         20  new things that have happened in mental health and

         21  all of the current research in mental health and how

         22  you may handle people who are mentally ill. And so,

         23  just having been there and having asked some

         24  questions, I would just like for you to describe for

         25  us how do you think that this curriculum that you
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          2  implement, how much of it do you think a new recruit

          3  absorbed, recognizing all of the other duties that

          4  that young person may have, and who may be the first

          5  person in the street of Flatbush, who apart from a

          6  person why may be a little bit out of sort or

          7  displaying atypical behavior, let me call it that,

          8  but also have a complicated accent in describing

          9  what one may be about. How have you equipped that

         10  young person to look at different neighborhoods,

         11  different communities, different ethnic behavior

         12  patterns? And that is leading me to Borough Park,

         13  outside of Crown Heights, and how would that officer

         14  have known and what other actions do you think,

         15  having reassessed what happened, public outcry, that

         16  you think would have been handled very differently?

         17                 And then answer me some of the

         18  question concerning cultural differences and the way

         19  that behavior is displayed.

         20                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: There were

         21  several questions in there.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes. I wouldn't

         23  give you a scenario because I know I ask you to

         24  describe.

         25                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: One of the things
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          2  you just asked about was about how do we think a

          3  recruit absorbs material, and so it is quantitative

          4  and qualitative.

          5                 The quantitative way in which we

          6  know, or engage that the recruit has absorbed the

          7  information is through the written exams. And

          8  behavioral science, I am pleased to announce,

          9  usually comes out in the top. There is usually a 90

         10  percentile, which is very, very good. But that is

         11  quantitative.

         12                 Now, qualitatively is through the

         13  theater workshops, and that is looking at the

         14  recruit officer responding to these hypothetical

         15  scenarios, and trying to see how they are playing

         16  themselves out, are they able to bridge that gap

         17  between what they are learning and practice?

         18                 So, I think that the answer is a good

         19  one, at least in the academy setting, I think they

         20  are absorbing very well. That is in answer to one of

         21  your questions.

         22                 You raised another question, and I

         23  think that is about cultural competence issues, and

         24  so that is something that is relatively new, it is

         25  about a year and a half old in our curriculum. And
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          2  we dedicated about 24 hours, and I don't mean 24

          3  consecutive hours, but 24 hours in total on cultural

          4  competence.

          5                 And cultural competence is not just a

          6  buzz word, at least in the social work profession it

          7  is not. Cultural competence is the ability to not

          8  only know about the people we serve, but also to

          9  self-reflect on our own bias.

         10                 And so in the behavioral science

         11  curriculum now, which is not the curriculum that you

         12  probably were talking about before. But the present

         13  curriculum over the last year and a half, deals a

         14  lot with issues of bias, a lot with issues of

         15  racism, sexism, homophobia, we have a lot of

         16  consciousness raising articles that we require the

         17  recruits to read. In fact now, like never before, we

         18  have recruit officers purchase, they must purchase

         19  the required reading, New Immigrants in New York by

         20  Nancy Foner, and she is a leading anthropologist at

         21  SUNY Purchase, and a text that I am sure you are all

         22  familiar with, Race, Class and Gender by Paula

         23  Rothenberg, a 1998 text.

         24                 And in that text is an article by

         25  Peggy McIntosh called White Privilege, Unpacking The
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          2  Invisible Knapsack. And what we ask the recruit

          3  officers to do in a real emotionally engaging

          4  discussion is raise their consciousness, and have

          5  them self-reflect on their own bias. And once they

          6  do that, and, you know, even 24 hours of training

          7  doesn't accomplish that always, once they have

          8  reflected on their bias, now integrate that into

          9  what they know about this culture.

         10                 Part of that, not only the critical

         11  consciousness piece, not just the consciousness

         12  raising piece, but there is another piece that we

         13  require each officer to do a multi-sensory

         14  presentation. A three-to-five minute presentation on

         15  one of 40 groups. One of 40 groups that they may be

         16  serving when they graduate.

         17                 And it almost becomes like a

         18  competition with them where one recruit wants to

         19  outdo the other in terms of research and in terms of

         20  what their presentation looks like.

         21                 And what I mean by multi-sensory is

         22  we ask them to bring in foods, music, costume. And

         23  so you are really kind of appealing to all of your

         24  senses, and the appreciation of what is culture, and

         25  all of the different cultures. Plus we dedicate, of
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          2  course, a whole lesson to, first of all, the African

          3  American community and the experience of slavery and

          4  what that means, and that impact of the historical

          5  perspective, Native-American genocide.

          6                 Then we go into the new immigrants,

          7  while you have the European immigration, and then we

          8  talk about the new immigrants, the immigrants of

          9  today, and that is where we use the Nancy Foner

         10  text.

         11                 And so what recruit officers are

         12  really getting now in terms of cultural appreciation

         13  and cultural competence, is almost like what you

         14  would get on a masters level, in terms of ethnic

         15  studies and issues of oppression.

         16                 And so I think it is kind of

         17  innovative and it is new and it is different, and

         18  there aren't many Police Departments that I have

         19  researched that do critical consciousness and

         20  consciousness raising the way we do.

         21                 We also use a lot of the street-wise

         22  curriculum that the Deputy Commissioner of Community

         23  Affairs has created and developed these really

         24  wonderful tapes on the sights and sounds of various

         25  cultures, and we included that in our curriculum
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          2  most recently.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: How many years

          4  have you been doing this with recruits?

          5                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: I personally?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You or the same

          7  thing before you?

          8                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: I taught at the

          9  Police Academy as a Police Officer in 1985, and we

         10  were doing this kind of oral presentations, and so

         11  the curriculum once again is always changing, and so

         12  by and large we have been doing this, as long as I

         13  have been at the Police Academy, and I have been

         14  there on and off since '85.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Dr. O'Keefe, the

         16  Director of the Training, in the Daily News gave his

         17  description of what the academy's instruction for

         18  people with emotional disturbance, what it focuses

         19  on, and I guess the article says it focuses on

         20  principles such as isolation, containment, verbal

         21  command, cover and concealment, that we use across

         22  the board.

         23                 Is this an accurate statement of what

         24  the training is? And if so, how does this differ

         25  from the testimony given by Captain Michael -- I
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          2  don't want to mispronounce the name. People call me

          3  Oona, and I don't like it, I prefer Una, so if you

          4  will pronounce your last name I will take it.

          5                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: DeFillipo.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: All right. How

          7  does the Director of Training's description of what

          8  you do in the training differ from, or how do you

          9  describe that as it is written in your statement?

         10                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: I would certainly

         11  say that the Director of Training's statement is

         12  very accurate, and it is applied on a daily basis by

         13  most of the police officers on patrol.

         14                 What I think was misunderstood with

         15  reviewing the hypothetical situation, which I really

         16  don't want to get back into.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I am not going

         18  back there, please know that.

         19                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Okay.

         20                 What I think was misunderstood was

         21  the fact that many factors that may have played into

         22  using deadly physical force, or not using deadly

         23  physical forced, are visual and also sound, and also

         24  fear plays into it, and also whether or not the

         25  officer believes that he can contain the situation.
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          2                 The whole thing that you just read

          3  from Dr. O'Keefe, the central issue in that little

          4  brief quote that you said, is containment. And I

          5  think when you get to a situation where containment

          6  is lost and there is a threat of serious physical

          7  injury or death to anyone, then the officer must

          8  resort to deadly physical force.

          9                 But containment, cover, isolating an

         10  individual, everything that was said by Dr. O'Keefe

         11  is accurate.

         12                 Now, when it gets into real life

         13  situations that are constantly changing and

         14  volatile, those concepts are easily applied in some

         15  situations and not easily applied in other

         16  situations.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: The total time of

         18  training from the day a recruit walks in until the

         19  day he or she leaves, how long is that?

         20                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: It is

         21  approximately seven months of training, and that

         22  would be eight hours and 23 minutes each day, not

         23  including Saturday and Sunday. The actual total

         24  number, I am only familiar with what behavioral

         25  science entails.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay, to become

          3  what I consider to have been a competent teacher, it

          4  took me four years before I was allowed to walk into

          5  a classroom to instruct anybody's child.

          6                 Do you think that seven months of

          7  training, recognizing that to be a police officer

          8  you have the greatest responsibility,

          9  accountability, if not public image of who you are,

         10  in terms of public safety, do you realistically

         11  think even we are talking about mental health right

         12  now, that a young recruit has enough time to learn

         13  everything he or she needs to know to walk in the

         14  streets of East Flatbush, knowing that in East

         15  Flatbush any number of scenarios, okay, from murder

         16  to mental illness, may be taking place.

         17                 Do you realistically think that seven

         18  months of training, you know, you made you know the

         19  statement of how thorough everything is, and I don't

         20  know how thorough any training can be for a person

         21  on whom so much demand is being made, to walk out

         22  there and have all of this competence, all of these

         23  scenarios we put out here. And I am just saying I

         24  felt so, after Louima, that police officers did not

         25  get enough training, in any other country, anyplace,
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          2  and I won't say the one from which I came, I don't

          3  think seven months can equip any police officer to

          4  walk these streets and do a competent job knowing

          5  how complex our society is.

          6                 Do you agree with me?

          7                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: I would

          8  respectfully disagree with that statement. I believe

          9  that the Police Officers are exposed to a lot of

         10  different levels of training in the Police Academy

         11  that equip that police officer with the basic needs

         12  of a police officer to do his job in the street.

         13                 However, you must realize that

         14  training can only go so far and you as a teacher

         15  must have experience at the classroom setting and

         16  your experiences with teaching children was

         17  different from what you learned in your four years

         18  of college.

         19                 Now, you may have come across some

         20  different situations that weren't covered in your

         21  training, but based on your training and previous

         22  experience, you were able to deal with the situation

         23  in an adequate manner.

         24                 I also believe that is what happens

         25  with police officers. I believe there is basic
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          2  training, that they are sufficiently trained when

          3  they leave the Police Academy, and that they have

          4  another six months of field training. They have

          5  seven months of training in the Police Academy,

          6  followed by six months of field training where they

          7  are assigned with a field training sergeant and

          8  evaluated in the field.

          9                 So, with that experience of field

         10  training, plus the seven months in the Police

         11  Academy, and at a rate of eight hours a day, I

         12  believe that you probably have a little bit more

         13  than four years of college training.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You told me about

         15  the pre-service training, can you describe for us

         16  what the in-service training would be? I am being

         17  very nice about who that sergeant or who that person

         18  may be that do the training once they leave the

         19  academy and so I want to be very nice and very

         20  respectful. So, if you will tell me what the

         21  in-service training, especially around issues of

         22  mental health, i.e.? And that is my last question,

         23  to my colleagues, so they can answer.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Please.

         25                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Are you asking me
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          2  how the field training starts?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes. You gave us

          4  in-service training. You testified to us that you

          5  think that is adequate.

          6                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Yes --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Like I am a hard

          8  head, so it took me four years to become a teacher

          9  so.

         10                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: I am not

         11  commenting on your education. What I am saying is

         12  that the Precinct Commanding Officer has a group of

         13  sergeants at his disposal, and he takes the Sergeant

         14  that he believes is the best candidate to train

         15  young recruits and assigns that sergeant to those

         16  recruits for six months, and they interact with that

         17  sergeant on a daily basis for six months, and they

         18  can ask that sergeant any question that comes up

         19  from any experience that they have on patrol, to any

         20  question in the patrol guide, any question in the

         21  procedures that they might have, and that sergeant

         22  is equipped to answer those questions. And I think

         23  that hands-on training, one sergeant to maybe eight

         24  or nine police officers, in a command for six months

         25  is a very, very appropriate and controlled training,
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          2  hands-on training.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Can I just say

          4  that with the diversity of people in New York City

          5  today, it is always good to try to get across to

          6  recruits how much we don't know about individuals

          7  whom we go to see.

          8                 For example, I mean there were

          9  reports the Gideon Bush sometimes thought that he

         10  was the Messiah. Now, you know, there may be a

         11  million, two million, something like that, a million

         12  and a half Jewish people in New York City, very few

         13  think that they are the Messiah. But, you know, I

         14  happened to have once done when I was in college, a

         15  report on Sheptisvie and Messinism (spelled

         16  phonetically), I mean there is a certain tiny

         17  element of certain individual traditions, which give

         18  rise to individuals who may have studied in Israel

         19  or the like and you can have parallels like this

         20  with individuals, so we deal with atypical examples

         21  within individual cultures, and it is extremely

         22  difficult to really understand what people are

         23  thinking, and, you know, where the person was a year

         24  ago, was he in Israel? What did he do there? You

         25  know, somebody may have stepped out of a 17th
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          2  century culture into New York City December 14th,

          3  1999, and so it is extremely difficult always to

          4  fully understand the motivations of what an

          5  individual is doing. To some people something may be

          6  a threat, to another it may be a religiously

          7  exalting, you know, experience.

          8                 All I am saying is it is pity to act

          9  so decisively as using deadly force on somebody when

         10  it may not be necessary, and when in fact the person

         11  is really in a culture that is so different from

         12  mainstream America at this time, and yet, is a

         13  perfectly decent thing.

         14                 Do you think there is something to

         15  that? I mean, getting across how difficult it really

         16  is to pinpoint what is a person's motivation at a

         17  given point in time when the person is say on the

         18  street with sticks, uttering all sorts of things

         19  that may sound strange and bizarre to most

         20  Americans?

         21                 Council Member Martin Golden.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you, Mr.

         23  Chairman.

         24                 On page ten of your testimony, I

         25  believe it said examples above illustrated, and that
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          2  was about Police Officer McCormack, that no matter

          3  how well trained the individual officer or unit is,

          4  when dealing with volatile, constantly changing

          5  situations, sometimes the situation overtakes the

          6  responses in unpredictable ways.

          7                 Isn't this a perfect example, Mr.

          8  McCormack, or Police Officer McCormack was in ESU,

          9  so therefore had to have ten years of service or

         10  better probably on the Police Department and had to

         11  have two years of college or better and the

         12  supervisor at that scene had to have four years of

         13  college or better, and, yet, we lost a police

         14  officer because the changing situation of that

         15  volatile situation that day, correct? And that

         16  happens a lot?

         17                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: Yes, that is

         18  correct. I mean, the changes are constant, in any

         19  given situation, whether they go from a domestic

         20  violence situation where a husband and a wife are

         21  arguing, to an emotionally disturbed person

         22  situation to an arrest situation. You know, you

         23  might have a situation where somebody is put under

         24  arrest and he starts to go peacefully, and then all

         25  of a sudden he exits the building and he is

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            68

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  surrounded by his friends and now he doesn't want to

          3  go peacefully. So, any number of variables can

          4  change the situation that a police officer is

          5  involved in, and I think I would like to address

          6  your specific questions of emergency service to

          7  Sergeant Cambria.

          8                 SERGEANT CAMBRIA: Good afternoon, Mr.

          9  Golden, and members of the Council.

         10                 That's correct, members of the

         11  Emergency Service Unit have a tremendous advantage

         12  over the average police officer on patrol, who by

         13  the way do the thrust of the work and have the

         14  hardest job out there. They never have the luxury of

         15  knowing what exactly they are getting into. They may

         16  be responding to a simple aided case, which might be

         17  just an elderly person who fell off the bed and just

         18  can't get to the door, when in fact they may be met

         19  with an individual with a gun or machete or

         20  something to that affect.

         21                 We, within emergency service do have

         22  that luxury however, because we are mostly requested

         23  by the individual officers on the scene who are

         24  telling us exactly what they have on the scene. They

         25  may be telling us the individual that is armed with
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          2  a firearm, he may be armed with a machete or

          3  barricaded, it might be a hostage situation. So,

          4  while we are en route to the location, we already

          5  started to form a tactical plan within our minds.

          6                 The Emergency Service Unit is a team

          7  concept. There are no individual officers within

          8  emergency service, but rather we are a team concept,

          9  and that means no one will act as an individual.

         10                 The supervisor will formalize a plan,

         11  each member will have a specific duty what to do,

         12  but we will act as a team. We have that advantage to

         13  do that.

         14                 The Emergency Service Unit has

         15  approximately 400 members throughout the five

         16  boroughs in New York City. There are ten individual

         17  trucks, as we call them, or units or commands within

         18  the City. Brooklyn having three. I am from Brooklyn,

         19  so I am the most qualified to speak about the

         20  Brooklyn command.

         21                 One of the questions I believe, sir,

         22  that you answered earlier, or you asked earlier, is

         23  there enough personnel within emergency service to

         24  respond to specific locations because we have what

         25  you may believe is a limited amount of people. We
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          2  are a Citywide unit, and we are on a citywide radio

          3  frequency. In ideal situations we have in each unit,

          4  as I said there were ten, ideally we have three what

          5  we call REPs, which stands for Radio Emergency

          6  Patrol vehicles, those are the small trucks that we

          7  drive around in, and those are where two police

          8  officers in emergency service are assigned to it.

          9  And then we have the large rescue truck, which is

         10  based at quarters, which is assigned to a sergeant

         11  and his chauffeur.

         12                 The Beach Precinct where I work, in

         13  the southern part of Brooklyn, we cover nine

         14  precincts of Brooklyn South. Those three vehicles

         15  would be assigned to three separate zones, and they

         16  would have, if they are not on the previous

         17  assignment, they would have a five-minute ETA, or

         18  estimated time of arrival, to any location within

         19  their assigned area.

         20                 There are occasions when a particular

         21  vehicle may be assigned to a job and the unit from

         22  the next zone within my command would have to

         23  respond, and that response might be a little bit

         24  longer, five, seven, eight minutes, perhaps.

         25                 But we are constantly communicating
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          2  over the radio with the Division that is requesting

          3  us. They are telling us exactly what they have and

          4  what they need from us.

          5                 In the occurrence that all three of

          6  our units are tied up on assignments, we have

          7  another unit from the adjoining command, or

          8  adjoining truck, which would respond, and they may

          9  have a slightly longer ETA, but the officers know

         10  they must isolate and contain the individual,

         11  getting back to the EDP.

         12                 Once we arrive on the scene, we will

         13  confer with the highest ranking member on the scene

         14  from patrol services. Usually as first responders

         15  will be a sergeant, a patrol sergeant.

         16                 We would confer with the sergeant at

         17  that point and we would make a tactical plan and

         18  gather as much information as we possibly can.

         19                 As the lieutenant at the desk

         20  mentioned earlier, what is going on, what is this

         21  individual's problem, as the Captain mentioned, what

         22  brought the individual to this crisis right now.

         23                 In addition to the training, if I can

         24  just back up for a minute, within Emergency Service,

         25  in addition to the six months of training once an
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          2  emergency service officer is selected in the unit,

          3  which is a rather lengthy process within itself, he

          4  has to undergo a background check, he has to undergo

          5  a psychological exam, he has to go through a

          6  physical agility test, and he has to go through a

          7  SCUBA diving test, or a swimming test to see if he

          8  can swim. And most importantly, his Police

          9  Department record is very closely scrutinized. Has

         10  he had many civilian complaints? Has he had any --

         11  what does his sick record look like. His background

         12  credentials are checked, and once accepted he has to

         13  undergo a six-month training schedule within the

         14  Emergency Service Unit, which is based out of Flood

         15  Bennett Field in Brooklyn.

         16                 Once he is brought into the unit

         17  itself, once he graduates from school, he is then

         18  assigned to a training officer under the supervision

         19  of the squad supervisor, a sergeant. He is then

         20  evaluated for some six or eight months and before he

         21  is off the entry probation level.

         22                 When we arrive on the scene of a most

         23  disturbed individual, we will immediately attempt to

         24  secure the scene, to slow down the scene. We will

         25  ask all nonessential personnel to be removed from
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          2  the location from the floor, get them in fact out of

          3  our way in case we have to retreat and we have a

          4  place to go. Also for communications, we want no

          5  chatter in the location. If we can use a hallway as

          6  an example, we will ask everyone to leave the

          7  hallway. We will surround the area with emergency

          8  service personnel.

          9                 One officer will be immediately

         10  designated to act as a negotiator, try to gather

         11  information from the individual that is behind the

         12  story, if we can use that scenario.

         13                 We will also interview neighbors,

         14  family members and try to gather as much information

         15  about this individual as possible.

         16                 We will then use that information as

         17  part of our negotiation process. Each officer within

         18  emergency service must, in addition to the six

         19  months of training that they receive at Flood

         20  Bennett Field, attend an emergency psychological

         21  technician course, as the captain had mentioned

         22  earlier, which is taught out of the John Jay College

         23  of Criminal Justice.

         24                 We have two main instructors, a

         25  professor and Dr. Raymond Pitt, who is a Professor
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          2  of Psychology, and a Professor and Dr. Stewart

          3  Kirshner, who is a forensic psychologist, both well

          4  respected individuals within the field of mental

          5  illness.

          6                 And they teach us different insights

          7  into the world of mental illness. It is certainly

          8  not designed to make the emergency service officer a

          9  psychologist but rather to identify certain traits

         10  of mental illness. To identify when somebody might

         11  be schizophrenic, or when somebody might have a

         12  delusional disorder or be on a very depressed state.

         13                 We have certain teaching techniques.

         14  As the Captain mentioned earlier, the one prop that

         15  we use is a wooden door and a frame with the

         16  actor/trainer acting as a mentally ill individual on

         17  one side of that door and the officers on the other.

         18  And we tell them at this point of the training

         19  tactics are not an option, they must negotiate the

         20  surrender of the individual.

         21                 What we seek to do is optimize the

         22  individual's opportunity to voluntarily surrender to

         23  the police. We seek to empower them to end the

         24  crisis before the police have to move in tactically.

         25                 It is a five-day course and it is an
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          2  accredited course from the college. Each officer

          3  would receive three college credits upon successful

          4  completion of that training.

          5                 Within the training itself we have

          6  not only emergency service personnel, but also

          7  members from the hostage negotiating team with the

          8  training, and also we have members of the Department

          9  of Mental Health Mobile Crisis Units in that

         10  training with us as well, so we can interact with

         11  each other and learn what each other unit can bring

         12  into our training and to our negotiations.

         13                 We are resource -- as far as funding,

         14  the course depends on grants. It has currently been

         15  getting a grant from the Department of Health, New

         16  York City Department of Health, and also from the

         17  New York State Assembly, Assemblyman Jim Brennan

         18  from Brooklyn, who was very instrumental in getting

         19  us funding for this program as well. It has been in

         20  existence since shortly thereafter the Eleanor

         21  Bumpers situation.

         22                 I have been involved as coordinator

         23  for the emergency service end of it for about four

         24  years now. The course has gotten tremendous response

         25  from the officers and it is giving the officers
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          2  another tool in their tool box to effectively do

          3  their job.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

          5  Sergeant Cambria.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Maybe I will

          7  look to my colleagues for further funding for that

          8  program, maybe we could discuss it with the Public

          9  Safety and the Mental Health colleagues as well.

         10                 Of 1,906 removals that were made by

         11  Emergency Service, how many led to injury to the

         12  individual or to the officers and deaths?

         13                 SERGEANT CAMBRIA: Death, to my

         14  knowledge, Mr. Golden, the 1,906 number, there were

         15  none. There might have been a very small percentile

         16  of injury.

         17                 We have a whole host of non-lethal

         18  means of dealing with these individuals, everything

         19  from the Taser to the stun device. We have water

         20  distracters, which is nothing more than a fire

         21  extinguisher filled with compressed water, and it is

         22  used to splash an individual in his face and it

         23  momentarily stuns the individual. If anybody on the

         24  Council has ever been squirted with a garden hose

         25  and for that second you were shot, it is equivalent
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          2  to that.

          3                 It would give us that one second to

          4  just move in and be able to apprehend that

          5  individual in a safe fashion.

          6                 We have the straining straps, we have

          7  what we call U-bars, which are nothing more than a

          8  six-foot pole with a curved top on it designed to

          9  pin an individual against the wall. So we can

         10  restrain him while two other officers would move in

         11  with plastic shields, we could further contain the

         12  individual and then take control of his arms, if he

         13  has a weapon, take control of the weapon. And of

         14  course I am speaking of other than a firearm.

         15                 We also have ankle straps which when

         16  the individual is handcuffed and placed in custody

         17  is still thrashing about, we can secure his legs and

         18  secure his arms. So, again, to make that individual

         19  as safe as possible.

         20                 If the individual is still resisting,

         21  we also have what we call an EDP bag, which is a

         22  mesh five-foot bag which would encapsulate the

         23  individual from his neck to his legs, again, just to

         24  make him safe, as well as the officers that must

         25  deal with this individual.
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          2                 At that point he would then be

          3  transported to a hospital via an ambulance or to

          4  that fashion.

          5                 But it is a very small percentile as

          6  far as injuries to both officers and the EDP or

          7  individuals involved.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: A severely

          9  emotionally distressed person. The strength and the

         10  ability of that person to do damage, we just pointed

         11  out where Police Officer McCormack, you did three

         12  and a half hours of negotiating, and it did not

         13  work, and that is under the best circumstances, so

         14  things can go wrong.

         15                 What can a severely distressed

         16  emotional person do in a 20-foot safety, I guess it

         17  is 20 feet that we have --

         18                 SERGEANT CAMBRIA: That is the

         19  recommended --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Most

         21  apartments are not 20 feet. Most apartments or

         22  surroundings in homes are less than 20 feet, but how

         23  much damage can a person do that is severely

         24  distressed?

         25                 SERGEANT CAMBRIA: They can do a
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          2  tremendous amount of damage.

          3                 What we try to teach the officers

          4  within emergency services that are going through

          5  this course is that these individuals are largely

          6  not responsible for themselves, so therefore we must

          7  now take responsibility for them. We must become

          8  their conscience, and we must become their

          9  advocates. We must try to bring these individuals

         10  into a safe environment, bring them down from where

         11  they are, bring them up from their depression, if

         12  that is what the case might be, and we attempt to

         13  use our dialogue as our number one tool or piece of

         14  equipment. And if it takes ten hours then so be it.

         15                 About two years ago in Brooklyn we

         16  had an individual on Nostrand Avenue who lasted 50

         17  hours. He had himself barricaded with a gun, he was

         18  holding himself hostage, and that assignment took 50

         19  hours.

         20                 Time is not an issue, as far as we

         21  are concerned. We will take as much time as

         22  possible.

         23                 If an individual is acting in such a

         24  deranged fashion and tactics are the only option,

         25  then again, we have a whole host of non-lethal means
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          2  of dealing with this individual and we will take him

          3  into custody quickly so he cannot injure himself, or

          4  injure a police officer who is trying to accomplish

          5  that goal.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I know when I

          7  was in the Police Department years ago, they used to

          8  say the family dispute was the most dangerous that

          9  you could respond to, but would you say the EDP, the

         10  emotionally disturbed person, is probably the most

         11  dangerous that you could respond to?

         12                 SERGEANT CAMBRIA: I believe it

         13  possibly can be. Again, it depends on the

         14  environment, where was this individual at the time.

         15                 The apartment, left alone in a

         16  department can be an extremely dangerous location.

         17  Within kitchens we have a whole host of different

         18  weapons, knives and everything else that you can use

         19  to injure a police officer who is trying to take the

         20  individual into custody. But domestic violence is

         21  also a very dangerous area where police officers are

         22  involved as well.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Do you know of

         24  any other agency or jurisdiction in the country that

         25  puts more resources training or money to our
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          2  emotionally disturbed person?

          3                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: At this time,

          4  through statistics that we receive from our office

          5  of Management Analysis and Planning, there is no

          6  other organization that expends the amount of

          7  resources more than the New York City Police

          8  Department. COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And that is

          9  training as well?

         10                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: I believe that is

         11  training as well.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: We have a new

         13  situation, obviously more recent to New York State

         14  and to New York City, it is Kendra's Law. How is

         15  Kendra's Law affecting -- and the back up or a

         16  question after that will be the difference between

         17  Lifenet and Kendra's Law and how effective?

         18                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Kendra's Law is

         19  relatively new. It has been enacted since the

         20  beginning of November. We haven't had any impact

         21  with the Police Department regarding transportation

         22  of anyone who has been the recipient of the Kendra's

         23  Law petition at this point in time.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Do we have a

         25  patrol guide on that?
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          2                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: It is being worked

          3  on.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: It is being

          5  worked on, so the patrol guide has not been

          6  established yet in Kendra's law?

          7                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Well, Kendra's Law

          8    petition is really an order from a psychiatrist or

          9  an order from a court, and there are various patrol

         10  guide provisions that respond to that type of

         11  situation.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: And we deal

         13  with it anyway?

         14                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN:  But there is

         16  no specific on Kendra's law.

         17                 The LifeNet response, now I know you

         18  have pointed out eight precincts. My question to you

         19  is how well is Lifenet working and why the precincts

         20  chosen?

         21                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: The Chief of

         22  Patrol's Office --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: By the 67

         24  Precinct.

         25                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Right.
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          2                 The Chief of Patrol's Office didn't

          3  feel knowledgeable enough about the individual

          4  precincts to choose it at the level of the chief of

          5  patrol. We sent it down to the Borough Commanders

          6  for them to make the decision on what precincts

          7  should be involved in the Project LifeNet. And the

          8  Borough Commanders cane back and that is how the

          9  precincts are chosen.

         10                 Lifenet is really, we are just

         11  completing the training in, I think it was Queens

         12  South and Queens North. We are done this week, and

         13  by the mid-January, the rest of the precinct should

         14  be trained and up on line. And then we are going to

         15  give it about a three to six-month evaluation period

         16  to see if we can expand it Citywide.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Well, maybe

         18  that will be something we will take up in the early

         19  part of next year.

         20                 I wanted two more questions. The

         21  State, New York State Police Mental Health Program,

         22  and we have the New York City, how does that differ,

         23  and how do they work together?

         24                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: Are you talking

         25  about the State Office of Mental Health curriculum?
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Yes.

          3                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: That has been

          4  incorporated in our curriculum since 1996.

          5                 In fact, they have a really excellent

          6  film that we have had as part of our required films

          7  since '96.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: So their

          9  police method will help program as part of the New

         10  York City mental health program?

         11                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO:  Part of the NYPD

         12  curriculum, yes.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you very

         14  much.

         15                 And just the last, the answer that

         16  was on page, said you, the answer to these

         17  questions, form an information base that becomes

         18  part of a technical plan that stresses and the

         19  preservation of human life at all times. I noticed

         20  you said at all times, but it is not in your

         21  testimony, but at all times that is the policy of

         22  the New York City Police Department, is the

         23  preservation of human life in all instances?

         24                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: In all instances,

         25  the preservation of human life is our philosophy.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Thank you very

          3  much. Have a nice holiday, ladies and gentlemen.

          4                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you,

          6  Councilman Golden.

          7                 Council Member Victor Robles. He

          8  stepped out for a minute.

          9                 Councilwoman Juanita Watkins.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.

         11                 One of the things that interested me,

         12  Sergeant, I am sorry I can't read your name --

         13                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: Lieutenant.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Lieutenant, I

         15  am sorry.

         16                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: Lieutenant

         17  Telesco.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Lieutenant

         19  Telesco, one of the things that I am particularly

         20  interested in, in addition to just training the

         21  officers to deal with the people who are emotionally

         22  disturbed, during your intense training program,

         23  behavioral science and cultural, critical cultural

         24  differences, et cetera, during those early runs in

         25  the academy, do you find any police officers,
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          2  recruits at that point still I guess, who you can

          3  single out or a bell rings in your head, somehow

          4  somewhere this one slipped through and we need to

          5  pay particular attention to this recruit because he

          6  or she may not be truly emotionally suited for the

          7  job?

          8                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: One of the

          9  greatest things I think about the seven months of

         10  training that we have is the ability to constantly

         11  evaluate. And so the behavioral science instructor,

         12  as well as the law instructor, physical training and

         13  tactics instructor and law instructor, people up at

         14  the range, driver training, all of the components of

         15  training and all of the trainers, get an opportunity

         16  to constantly evaluate and so it is not just a

         17  setting of like college where you only get to see

         18  that particular student for an hour and a half

         19  Tuesdays and Thursdays, we get an opportunity to see

         20  the recruit officer eight and a half hours every

         21  day. And, so, there are times and there are

         22  incidences of course where there would be someone

         23  that would come to our attention and when that

         24  person no longer becomes low profile but becomes

         25  high profile, we have that ability then to not only
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          2  do something about it, but prevent them from

          3  graduating because they have obviously not met the

          4  standards then.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Obviously

          6  this should be a very small percentage, but over the

          7  last two years, for example, have there been any

          8  such cases that you are aware of?

          9                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: I am not the

         10  Director of Training, so I can't answer those

         11  questions because I would really be talking

         12  anecdotally, and I don't think that would be fair.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Is there

         14  anyone here who can answer?

         15                 MS. PETITO: I think there are

         16  certainly recruits who fail out of the academy for

         17  many reasons. But I don't know the numbers, for

         18  example. But it might be academic, it might be that

         19  they don't fit, that it is not a good fit for their

         20  characters or personalities, but that is something

         21  that is probably usually a combination of factors.

         22                 It is not just one instance, it is

         23  usually, and Grace can correct me if I am wrong, it

         24  is usually not just one aspect of their training but

         25  that they are not able to either cope with or

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            88

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  perform adequately in several aspects of their

          3  training.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: I raise this

          5  issue specifically because I think that your jobs

          6  obviously are very highly stressful. You are under a

          7  great deal of pressure, and emergency situations

          8  dealing with emotionally disturbed people increases

          9  the level of stress.

         10                 I have had, prior to coming here,

         11  several years as a civil service commissioner. One

         12  of the things that we had to deal with was the

         13  psychological profiles for police officers, as well

         14  as others, who were turned down because they were

         15  being psychologically unfit, and, therefore, if they

         16  appealed we got those.

         17                 In rare instances, very rare

         18  instances, we held a hearing. Usually it was decided

         19  on the bulk of the papers that came before us, but

         20  there is a case that stays with me, because it was

         21  the son of a police officer who had been rejected.

         22  We had an awful lot of pressure, and we held a

         23  hearing on that one. The father was present, did not

         24  testify, but the bulk of what came from the

         25  neighborhood regarding not just the son but the
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          2  father and how frightened and terrified that

          3  neighborhood was of the father, and the reasons why

          4  some of them would not even come before us or were

          5  afraid to even write their names on what they were

          6  turning in, and this was mostly police

          7  investigators, as you know, who do this kind of

          8  work, led us or kind of confirmed some of what we

          9  had expected, that there is a small but dangerous

         10  minority of officers who slip through the ranks

         11  before it happens.

         12                 So, one of the things that is

         13  important is there is some kind of mechanism that

         14  does keep the antenna up for people, because they

         15  may be very good academically, and they may be good

         16  with firearms and all of that, but this kind of

         17  problem absolutely would come up in a situation

         18  dealing with emotionally disturbed person, domestic

         19  violence crisis incidence, and they are not always

         20  spotted before, but it would seem based on what I

         21  listened to was the very exhaustive training that

         22  you have going on that they could and should be

         23  opportunities to catch them.

         24                 LIEUTENANT TELESCO: I sit on a

         25  committee myself and all of the other chair people,
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          2  as well, I mean it is probably a room this size with

          3  about 25 people who sit on the Committee called The

          4  Recruit Observation Performance Evaluation

          5  Committee, and it is held four times during the

          6  recruit training, four different times. And the last

          7  one is probably the most important one, and that is

          8  where we vote, and each of the chairpeople have a

          9  vote on whether or not a particular recruit who, and

         10  that is a great statement that you make, a great

         11  metaphor about antenna going up, there are times

         12  when antenna go up and it is not just academically,

         13  it is not just quantitative information, it is maybe

         14  a statement, maybe behavior, maybe, you know, things

         15  that are non-verbal, or para-verbal, and so we vote

         16  and there are times when we will vote for

         17  termination, or we will vote for special monitoring,

         18  or we will vote that the person does not get their

         19  gun and shield and does not graduate.

         20                 I just couldn't give you the answer

         21  in terms of specific numbers before, but thankfully

         22  I think it happens and we are able to catch it.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: That is

         24  comforting.

         25                 In each precinct you are now supposed
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          2  to have at least two officers who are specially

          3  trained to handle domestic violence issues. How

          4  about EDPs? Do you have the same kind of situation?

          5  And if not, why not?

          6                 CAPTAIN DeFILLIPO: I don't think that

          7  would be practical. Just from the shear volume of

          8  the number of emotionally disturbed persons runs

          9  that we go on, I think that every police officer

         10  needs a baseline training on how to deal with an

         11  emotionally disturbed person.

         12                 And in addition to that, if we gave

         13  them additional training, that additional training

         14  has to be backed up with experience to mesh out that

         15  training, and I believe that our emergency service

         16  unit is more than capable of handling that

         17  component. Putting the emergency service police

         18  officers into a situation 1,900 times a year, where

         19  they do have to negotiate, where they do have to use

         20  specialized equipment, where they do have to resolve

         21  the situation, I believe that the citizens of New

         22  York get a much better return on their investment

         23  with emergency service, as to having individual

         24  police officers in each command respond as

         25  emotionally disturbed person specialists. Because
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          2  the experience that they would get in the 75 command

          3  would be much less than the experience of the

          4  emergency service unit.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Can I just ask a

          6  question? Can I just follow-up on that for a minute

          7  and then I will get right back to you?

          8                 Did you find that each time there is

          9  a need for somebody on the scene with this sort of

         10  expertise, the person from the emergency services

         11  unit gets there at about the same time as the

         12  officers to the local precinct?

         13                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Gets there in

         14  about the same time? Probably with maybe a one or

         15  two-minute delay.

         16                 But the person who is responding as

         17  the first responder from the precinct is

         18  transmitting information back to --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: No, I got that.

         20  You said that in your statement that right at the

         21  time of the E911 call, the person is dispatched from

         22  the precinct and somebody is dispatched from ESU.

         23                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Right.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: So you are

         25  saying that generally there is only a minute time
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          2  lag.

          3                 SERGEANT CAMBRIA: It would depend,

          4  sir, where we are responding from. As I stated,

          5  usually within five minutes we will arrive on the

          6  scene. Sometimes we have a greater distance to

          7  travel. We have to travel across the seven or eight

          8  precincts in order to get to a location. We utilize

          9  our radios and we talk to our officers on the scene.

         10  Request an update and the majority of the times they

         11  will probably cancel us, and it may not be an EDP at

         12  all.

         13                 When someone calls 911 and they use

         14  that magic word "he is acting crazy", it is already

         15  interpreted to be an EDP. And in fact the individual

         16  might be intoxicated, or something to that effect.

         17  So when the officers get on the scene and they

         18  determine that he is not an EDP, then they will

         19  cancel our response immediately.

         20                 But it is a dual notification, and as

         21  soon as we get the notification by the precinct

         22  officers, we start responding to the location.

         23                 So, it is just depending on where we

         24  are geographically speaking.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Council Member
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          2  Watkins.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: One of the

          4  things I wanted to know was, it does seem to make

          5  sense to have the emergency services respond,

          6  however, the sergeant said that occasionally they

          7  get calls that really are not EDPs. I would hope

          8  that more often the error is made by calling for

          9  emergency services when not necessary than the other

         10  way around, and that was my concern. Are the

         11  officers in the local precincts trained, if in doubt

         12  call emergency services, and what ought to be the

         13  signals for them so that they do make that call

         14  sometimes? Of course, if the person is screaming and

         15  flailing arms and whatever, you get that, but

         16  sometimes you may get someone who is in silence who

         17  says nothing, who doesn't do anything, who seems to

         18  be non-responsive, which is totally different, but

         19  maybe even more dangerous, do they know that those

         20  are all signs to call emergency services then?

         21                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Yes. I think you

         22  have to understand the terminology that we use. That

         23  has been, since I have been on the job 20 years, and

         24  that has been that when a citizen needs help they

         25  call the police. When the police need help they call

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            95

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  emergency service. So I think that has been

          3  historically the case, and I believe that probably

          4  emergency service, if you ask some of the emergency

          5  service police officers, get called to the scenes of

          6  incidents where they might not be required, but we

          7  would rather air on that side where the emergency

          8  service officer is not required and have them there

          9  and then just say, okay, we don't need you, you can

         10  resume patrol, and they would be more than grateful

         11  to respond.

         12                 We always try to air on the side of

         13  having more resources on the scene of an incident

         14  than having an inadequate amount of resources.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER WATKINS: Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you.

         17                 Just some more questions, we can

         18  address this to the work of our staff, which I think

         19  was quite good in preparing for this.

         20                 What, if any, special equipment do

         21  regular patrol officers carry with them and in their

         22  patrol cars when they respond to an emotionally

         23  disturbed person, since apparently they are mostly

         24  the first on the scene?

         25                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Well, each police
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          2  officer has a non-lethal weapon attached to his

          3  belt, it is pepper spray, and we find that

          4  emotionally disturbed people sometimes react to

          5  pepper spray and sometimes they don't react to

          6  pepper spray, but it is a resource, a non-lethal

          7  weapon that is available to every office on patrol.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Just on that, in

          9  1997, the Civilian Complaint Review Board

         10  recommended that the Department discontinue the use

         11  of pepper spray on emotionally disturbed persons.

         12  Why do you think then it is a good idea to use

         13  pepper spray?

         14                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Because it is

         15  effective in some instances, and in some instances

         16  it is not. But, you know, I would rather have the

         17  police officer use the non-lethal weapon of pepper

         18  spray and have it not be effective and then resort

         19  to another maybe more aggressive non-lethal weapon,

         20  but at least the pepper spray is the first step. And

         21  if it doesn't work at that particular time, then it

         22  doesn't work, but I don't think it should be an

         23  option that is taken away from the police officer,

         24  the first responding police officer on the scene.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I don't recall
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          2  too well, but I think the reason why, one of the

          3  reasons why the CCRB so recommended was the sense

          4  that some small element of the population react

          5  adversely to pepper spray; is that right?

          6                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: That may very well

          7  be the case.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, why use it

          9  then, if some element of the population --

         10                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Because it is an

         11  option that is available, and it is a non-lethal

         12  option and it should be used.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: There is no

         14  other chemical that can be used but doesn't produce

         15  adverse reactions?

         16                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Well, I think that

         17  would be the individual who is susceptible to the

         18  chemical. I think by and large the vast number of

         19  studies that we have looked at in the Police

         20  Department say that the number of people have an

         21  adverse reaction to pepper spray is so small that it

         22  would be an effective non-lethal weapon for us to

         23  use.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay. So, you

         25  are saying one of the things they take is pepper
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          2  spray, and then what else do they have with them?

          3                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: And then each

          4  patrol sergeant is equipped with a plastic shield

          5  and also a Taser stun device, which is a device that

          6  emits a very, very low amp shot of electricity that

          7  will make muscles contract and temporarily disable

          8  the person into the fetal position.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Would it make

         10  sense to have all the officers have a shield?

         11  Shields aren't that expensive. It seems to me that

         12  that is one of the things that the officers might

         13  feel is sufficiently protective, that they don't

         14  have to use force because they have the alternative

         15  of playing defense rather than offense.

         16                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Well, I guess that

         17  would depend on the weapon that the individual has.

         18  And it would also depend on whether or not it would

         19  be feasible to equip every radio car and train every

         20  police officer on the use of shields.

         21                 That is something that could be taken

         22  under consideration, though.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Could you give

         24  me some sort of advisory? I mean, I have got all

         25  sorts of stuff for the winter, for example, in my
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          2  trunk, and it seems to me that putting a shield in

          3  -- yes, Mr. Golden?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: If I just may

          5  join in for a second here on two issues.

          6                 Once you get engaged in the shield,

          7  that officer is no longer creating that sphere, that

          8  safety area that it is supposed to create, but it is

          9  helping the officer to engage, and I believe that is

         10  the reason that the supervisors have it and not the

         11  police officers, because you don't want the police

         12  officers engaging, and they want supervisory

         13  officers there to do that.

         14                 And the other reason, the pepper

         15  spray, let me tell you --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: One at a time.

         17                 I think the point makes sense do you

         18  want the supervisory officer, but if somebody like

         19  walks into the safety zone and starts swinging a

         20  stick or a bat or something like that, if you have a

         21  shield you can protect yourself. If not, you may use

         22  what could be called overkill.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: The only

         24  reason I bring that up is because you have 36,000

         25  police officers, you have 36,000 officers and they
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          2  are out there with shields and they are coming

          3  closer contact, I understand where you are coming

          4  from, but I think it is better that the supervisor

          5  be present and with those shields so that --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I am in favor of

          7  the supervisors being present.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: Pardon me?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I am in favor of

         10  the supervisors, I think that makes sense.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: I don't agree

         12  with you on everybody with the shield, but that is

         13  besides the point.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, I am

         15  asking a question really, as to what makes sense.

         16  What do the departments do? Do they have a shield

         17  for an officer who responds to the scene in a patrol

         18  car?

         19                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: I would have to

         20  investigate that. I don't have that information.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: If you could

         22  tell us, I would just be interested. If you can get

         23  back to me with this and some of the other things,

         24  and the pepper spray issue.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GOLDEN: The funnier
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          2  side to that, the police officers aren't the only

          3  ones that have the pepper spray. As a police officer

          4  in the 67 Precinct, in Una Clarke's precinct, many

          5  years ago I was sprayed by a perp, and let me tell

          6  you, it is very, very effective. It put me out of

          7  commission, and I went to a hospital for two and a

          8  half hours, and it hurts.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Right.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I understand that

         11  if the reverse were true, it probably wouldn't work,

         12  I understand you have an internal memo which says

         13  don't spray Caribbean-Americans because we eat too

         14  much pepper to begin with.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay.

         16                 In different areas, in voluntary

         17  commitment, is there coordination between precincts

         18  and local hospitals with respect to taking

         19  emotionally disturbed persons into custody?

         20                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: Yes. We have a

         21  police officer who stays with the emotionally

         22  disturbed person until that person is a two step

         23  process to get the person admitted into a hospital.

         24                 The first step is that that person

         25  has to be medically cleared through the emergency
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          2  room to make sure it is in fact a psychological

          3  emergency and not an emergency that is occurring

          4  because of the use of a narcotic or an illegal

          5  substance, or the person has some other type of

          6  physical disorder that is making him delusional.

          7                 That is done in the emergency room,

          8  that takes quite a number of hours to get cleared.

          9  Once the person is cleared medically, then the

         10  police officer and the emotionally disturbed person

         11  go over to the psychological emergency room and the

         12  person gets interviewed there. And then the police

         13  officer, either a determination is made by a

         14  psychiatrist to admit the person or to release a

         15  person at which time both people go home.

         16                 But it is quite a long commitment of

         17  man hours.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I understand

         19  there are quite a number of advocates for which to

         20  testify and we have a Council function later today,

         21  so I think maybe we should move on.

         22                 Just in conclusion, you spent a lot

         23  of time, perhaps more than on any other issue, going

         24  through, which was helpful and impressive, the

         25  training that you seek to impart. Is it your
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          2  conclusion then that that is adequate?

          3                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: I would always be

          4  willing to look at additional training and

          5  additional, working with various communities.

          6                 I think what we have to realize with

          7  the Police Department is there has to be a return on

          8  the investment, it has to be cost effective. But any

          9  number of solutions that are proposed and are

         10  reasonable, they should be at least looked at and

         11  possibly incorporated into our training.

         12                 Training is a fluid concept, and it

         13  should remain a fluid concept, and it should never

         14  be so rigid where we say no to any type of

         15  suggestion.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Okay, the only

         17  thing I will say in concluding then, as it relates

         18  to this, is that five days ago we had a hearing with

         19  Commissioner Safir with respect to implementation of

         20  recommendations that have been made post Louima, and

         21  one of the things he pointed out was the increased

         22  use of what he referred to as engaged, disengaged,

         23  you know, continuing to interact with people that

         24  the police deal with, and it seems to me this is

         25  really an area quite apart where that sort of thing
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          2  I think can really be helpful. I mean, if you can

          3  continue to talk to people, even if you think they

          4  are nuts, it seems to me that you are part of the

          5  way to trying to diffuse the problem. So I think

          6  that that might be something to try to incorporate

          7  into your approach, that he himself uses elsewhere.

          8                 CAPTAIN DeFILIPPO: I agree with you.

          9  I think that any time that you can de-escalate a

         10  situation and de-escalate the situation by talking

         11  rather than any other type of method, it is always

         12  more effective.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I just want to,

         14  as Chair of the Committee on Mental Health, to say

         15  to you that all of what we have talked about today

         16  is little comfort to the Busch family or the

         17  Cerbelli family, and our effort here is really to

         18  see how together we can work. It is not to beat upon

         19  you, but to see how we can better protect people

         20  with mental illness.

         21                 As the Chair it is my hope that we

         22  can help to work together to put away this stigma

         23  around mental illness, to be able to get people in

         24  treatment, rather than in jail, and I know that you

         25  play a very pivotal role when you call and if you
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          2  are called, and what I would rather see would be for

          3  a person to be taken to a hospital, rather than be

          4  taken into the 71st, the 67 or the 70, and be locked

          5  up, and then they become a criminal rather than an

          6  in-person (sic), and it is a criminalization of

          7  mental illness that is most disturbing to me, and it

          8  is of no comfort to a family who gets hurt by a

          9  mentally ill person, if I would say, well, just kick

         10  this under the rug because this person was mentally

         11  ill, because on both sides people are asking for

         12  justice. And so, you know, it is that conflict of

         13  what is real justice, who is the victim here, and I

         14  think that we victimize the mentally ill twice.

         15                 Thank you very much.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         17  much.

         18                 Okay, now we will move on. We have

         19  about four different groups of people who have asked

         20  to testify. And we will take as the first two, from

         21  the Urban Justice Center, Raymond Brescia, and from

         22  Grassroot Consumers, David Gonzalez.

         23                 Then we will take, we have a group

         24  from the Bush family, followed by a group from the

         25  Cerbelli family.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Can we ask

          3  somebody from the Police Department to remain,

          4  because I think it is important for you to hear what

          5  advocates think. So, if you will kindly leave

          6  somebody who can take some notes and who have some

          7  role and some responsibility for this training, I

          8  would appreciate it very much.

          9                 And who would you leave?

         10                 (Speaking from the audience off of

         11  the record.)

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         13  much. Would you kindly take notes.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Then we will

         15  have two representatives. We have many cards, but

         16  two representatives from Fountain House, and then we

         17  have about three miscellaneous people that we will

         18  take as a panel.

         19                 Since we have another -- actually

         20  there is a briefing now on the Transit, possible

         21  Transit strike going on, and then we also have

         22  another Council function at 4:00, so if we could ask

         23  you to try to limit your testimony to five minutes

         24  each? Would that be all right? Thank you.

         25                 Who wishes to go first?
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          2                 MR. BRESCIA: Mr. Gonzalez will speak

          3  first.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Mr. Gonzalez.

          5                 MR. GONZALEZ: Okay, good afternoon.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Welcome.

          7                 MR. GONZALEZ: First of all I want to

          8  start by thanking the Commissioner (sic) on Public

          9  Safety for organizing this timely, important

         10  hearing.

         11                 I also want to thank Ms. Una Clarke

         12  for asking a member of the Police Department to

         13  remain behind. It concerns me when I see that there

         14  is this, you know, need to sit at the table and

         15  talk, try to iron out differences and issues

         16  regarding this case, this issue, that all of the

         17  members of the Police Department get up and leave,

         18  when someone like myself who has been a victim of

         19  this system decides to say what he has to say.

         20                 I sit here today before you because I

         21  am a life-long resident of New York City with a long

         22  history of mental illness who has been in and out of

         23  our City's psychiatric wards and in and out of our

         24  City's jails.

         25                 In fact, I would venture to say I
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          2  have been more in than out. At such I have firsthand

          3  experience of the misconceptions that exist within

          4  the NYPD about the mentally ill. However, likewise,

          5  I also have firsthand knowledge of the stigma that

          6  exists amongst the vast majority of mental health

          7  recipients about the NYPD, and I think a clear

          8  indication of that was an occasion I had of

          9  organizing a memorial rally for Gary Busch, we had

         10  more press present than mental health recipients.

         11  And when I asked them why they weren't showing up,

         12  they told me they were terrified of the Police

         13  Department, basically in a nutshell. And I think

         14  that that is also a form of stigma.

         15                 The belief that all police officers

         16  are merely licensed thugs posing as defenders of the

         17  law, this wide chasm (sic) will continue to exist

         18  until both sides come to the table for a frank and

         19  honest discussion aimed at dispelling the myths and

         20  misconceptions that has fostered an atmosphere of

         21  discontent and mistrust.

         22                 Only then can we truly begin to

         23  bridge the gap that exists between us. It is truly

         24  ironic that as we enter the 21st century in the next

         25  two weeks, society's perception of the mentally ill
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          2  is still mired down in the middle ages.

          3                 It is equally a sad commentary on our

          4  society when a person who is shot at 16 times by New

          5  York City's finest because of this Medieval

          6  perception, is publicly stated to be an appropriate

          7  response to EDPs.

          8                 A recent study at Columbia University

          9  concluded that being fired from a job is a much more

         10  significant factor in predicting violent behavior

         11  than a history of mental illness. Yet there are no

         12  ILC regulations for people that have recently been

         13  fired.

         14                 And I did in fact bring two copies of

         15  a publication that was put out by a major

         16  pharmaceutical company which is kind of interesting

         17  because you would think they would want to suppress

         18  information like that to sell more medication, and

         19  yet that information is in their publication, so I

         20  will leave that here.

         21                 As a survivor who has experienced

         22  police insensitivity at best and outright abuse at

         23  worst, I am anxious to hear from anyone about what

         24  type of training, if any, the officers receive at

         25  the academy for handling EDPs. Unfortunately,
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          2  because of the lack of services available to those

          3  in crisis, the responsibility of the mentally ill,

          4  as well as the homeless, has fallen on the shoulders

          5  of the Police Department.

          6                 If it is indeed correct that over 15

          7  percent of those arrested are mentally ill, then I

          8  believe it would be irresponsible of me not to

          9  suggest that 15 percent of academy training should

         10  cover appropriate police response for handling EDPs.

         11                 Let us take advantage of the moment

         12  to halt any further rift between our community and

         13  NYPD.

         14                 As I sat here listening to the prior

         15  panel, I thought it was, you know, it was almost

         16  kind of surreal that they were mired down in value

         17  of hypotheticals. Can you imagine where we would be

         18  today if trainers at the academy felt the same way?

         19                 If my intellect is still functioning,

         20  I believe that that is basically what training

         21  centers are in hypothetical situations. So, I think

         22  there is a great deal of value in hypothetical

         23  situations, and I am disturbed by the fact that the

         24  officers were unable, you know, to address that.

         25                 I also think that when you have a
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          2  captain like Captain Michael DeFilippo, making a

          3  statement that using deadly force against someone

          4  whose only weapon is a metal tip stick, when he can

          5  advocate for using force on such an individual,

          6  should we be at all surprised that a regular street

          7  patrol officer would shoot 16 times at someone whose

          8  only weapon was a clawed hammer?

          9                 I would like to also just refer you

         10  to page three of Captain DeFilippo's comments where

         11  he says our recruits have been engaged in the

         12  discussion concerning the myths associated with

         13  mental illness. To dispel those myths and to clarify

         14  that people were felt that people with mental

         15  illness are usually intelligent. I think that is

         16  somewhat of an oxymoron.  How can you dispel those

         17  myths when you are suggesting that we are not

         18  usually intelligent? So, I certainly am concerned

         19  about that.

         20                 And then I also want to go to page

         21  eight, where he says that special weapons training

         22  includes advance training in non-lethal weapons, the

         23  Taser and Nova stun devices, water distracter,

         24  plastic shields and velcro restraining straps, also

         25  the mace which was spoken about briefly. I just
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          2  wonder where all that stuff, or why wasn't that

          3  stuff used in the cases of Eleanor Bumpers, Kevin

          4  Cerbelli, Gary Busch, Eleanor Bumpers being shot

          5  twice, Kevin Cerbelli being shot, I believe it was

          6  eight times, Gary Busch being shot 12 times and the

          7  numbers keep rising.

          8                 Let's take advantage of this moment

          9  to amend this rift between the mental health

         10  community and the NYPD.

         11                 Thank you so much.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         13  much, Mr. Gonzalez, for your strong statement.

         14                 I understand the representative of

         15  the Bronx Borough President Freddie Ferrer has to

         16  leave for a meeting with respect the Transit strike,

         17  so if you will come up you will be next.

         18                 Mr. Brescia.

         19                 MR. BRESCIA: I will gladly defer to

         20  Michelle, if she wants to speak first. That's fine.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Who?

         22                 MR. BRESCIA: Michelle Newman, who is

         23  the spokesperson for the Borough President.

         24                 Do you want to go ahead now?

         25                 Is there any news, by the way, on the
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          2  Transit strike?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I don't know. We

          4  have been going on with this hearing.

          5                 Are the two of you together?

          6                 MR. VERNUCCIO: Yes. Thank you for

          7  your courtesy, Mr. Chairman. I am Frank Vernuccio,

          8  representing Bronx Borough President Ferrer. I am

          9  accompanied by Michelle Newman, who prepared the

         10  policy statement for the Borough President.

         11                 MS. NEWMAN: Thank you.

         12                 Good afternoon, Chairman Leffler, and

         13  Chairwoman Clarke. I am delivering testimony on

         14  behalf of Borough President Fernando Ferrer.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You are

         16  beginning to be a regular at our hearings.

         17                 MS. NEWMAN: My tenure as the Chair of

         18  the City Council Health Committee in the 1980s

         19  provided an opportunity, including working with

         20  service providers and advocates, to gain a better

         21  understanding of the needs of the mentally ill in

         22  New York City.

         23                 Many mentally ill people revolve in

         24  and out of the mental health and correction systems.

         25  In between these institutions many of New York's
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          2  mentally ill have interactions with members of the

          3  New York City Police Department.

          4                 Two recent incidents involving

          5  mentally ill people highlight gaps in the mental

          6  health system for treatment of mentally ill New

          7  Yorkers. In addition to Gary Busch and Andrew

          8  Goldstein, other less known tragedies involving

          9  mentally ill cry out for action.

         10                 New York needs a program to better

         11  service this vulnerable population in order to

         12  create a safer and more humane city.

         13                 There are no easy solutions, but a

         14  two-pronged approach offers an effective strategy.

         15  The first approach provides continuous access to

         16  medications and case management for the mentally

         17  ill. In fact, effective and available treatment

         18  options for the mentally ill exist. Our challenge

         19  lies in helping people access the care they need and

         20  deserve.

         21                 The second approach involves more

         22  extensive training of police cadets, retraining

         23  police officers and reviewing procedures to handle

         24  the mentally ill. Besides preventing the next

         25  Borough Park shooting or the next subway pushing, it
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          2  is the humane thing to do.

          3                 Let's look at treatment and health

          4  care. Proper health and social services can help a

          5  mentally ill person function normally in society and

          6  reduce, if not avoid, contact with members of the

          7  NYPD.

          8                 Put this into the context of a report

          9  issued yesterday by the United States Surgeon

         10  General who noted,"the mental health system is

         11  highly fragmented". People who need mental health

         12  services must often navigate a bewildering maze to

         13  get treatment.

         14                 Upon release from a mental hospital,

         15  one typically receives a week's worth of medication,

         16  along with a discharge plan.

         17                 In contrast, the City offers no

         18  discharge plan or provision of medication upon an

         19  individual's release from a prison or a jail.

         20                 Many mentally ill people receive

         21  Medicaid coverage which serves as a primary source

         22  of medical care and a way to access critical

         23  psychotropic medications. However, people lose this

         24  coverage upon admission to the mental health and

         25  correction systems, which in turn hinders access to
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          2  much needed resources.

          3                 Why? Under federal regulations, our

          4  recipient loses Medicaid eligibility during

          5  incarceration. In the past, however, being

          6  incarcerated for a short period of time did not

          7  disrupt Medicaid coverage. In the last few years the

          8  City's efforts to shrink Medicaid rolls, the City

          9  began to promptly disenroll detainees on Medicaid,

         10  even people incarcerated for a short period of time.

         11                 Only after being discharged from

         12  these institutions can one reapply for Medicaid

         13  coverage. To receive a Medicaid card takes at least

         14  45 to 90 days, much too long a time for a mentally

         15  ill person to go without medication and other health

         16  services.

         17                 I support state legislation to

         18  require that persons receive Medicaid coverage on a

         19  presumptive eligibility basis. This would allow them

         20  to access needed mental health treatment and

         21  medications during the interim time period. Only in

         22  this way can we ensure that people receive

         23  continuity in their mental health care.

         24                 In addition to presumptive

         25  eligibility for Medicaid coverage, it is vital for
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          2  our people leaving the correction system to have

          3  discharge planning so that they can link up with

          4  medical and social service programs.

          5                 New York State spends upwards of $4

          6  billion per year on mental health services and some

          7  28,000 mentally ill people cycle through Rikers

          8  Island per year. This makes Rikers the State's

          9  largest mental institution. Unless we provide

         10  medication and discharge planning to all people

         11  leaving jails, prisons and mental hospitals, we will

         12  continue to force the mentally ill through the

         13  revolving door. Not only is this an inhumane way to

         14  treat a vulnerable population, it is a costly and

         15  ineffective approach that also unfairly impacts

         16  police officers and mental health workers.

         17                 I support legislation by Chairman

         18  Leffler before the Council's Health Committee, Intro

         19  No. 173, which would require discharge planning. It

         20  makes sense to codify the need for discharge

         21  planning. I urge City Hall and the Council to move

         22  on this initiative.

         23                 Let's look at the NYPD. We must

         24  recognize the NYPD as an integral part of the mental

         25  health system. The largest outreach agency to the
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          2  mentally ill in the world, NYPD received 64,000 EDP

          3  calls, about 200 calls per day in 1998.

          4                 Our goals as we move into the Year

          5  2000 should be to reduce the interactions between

          6  the mentally ill and the NYPD, and also prepare New

          7  York's police officers to better handle such

          8  interactions.

          9                 The NYPD must train its police

         10  officers to handle encounters with the mentally ill.

         11                 Currently Police Academy cadets

         12  receive a mere 16 hours of training in methods for

         13  dealing with the mentally ill, and no follow-up

         14  training. This appears inadequate considering the

         15  extent to which police officers come in contact with

         16  mentally ill people.

         17                 Of the 64,000 calls to 911 per year

         18  involved emotionally disturbed persons, uniformed

         19  officers handle about eight out of nine calls. The

         20  ESU of the NYPD which receives special training for

         21  encounters with the mentally ill, responds to only

         22  about one in nine of these calls.

         23                 Uniformed officers must receive

         24  sufficient training for working with the mentally

         25  ill population. Inquiries by advocacy organizations

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            119

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  about the curriculum for encounters with the

          3  mentally ill yielded no information from the NYPD.

          4  The NYPD must work with service providers on this

          5  curriculum so that they can learn from the experts

          6  the best practices in working with the mentally ill

          7  population.

          8                 The NYPD must also re-examine the

          9  protocols for interactions with mentally ill people.

         10  In 1997, Civilian Complaint Review Board published a

         11  report on the use of pepper spray by the NYPD.

         12  Despite, the CCRB's recommendation that the NYPD not

         13  use pepper spray on emotionally disturbed persons,

         14  the NYPD failed to adopt this reform.

         15                 Though the CCRB at my request

         16  recently commenced a review of the use of pepper

         17  spray, I encourage the NYPD to reexamine this issue

         18  and adopt the CCRB's recommendation.

         19                 I want to thank the City Council's

         20  Committee on Public Safety and Subcommittee on

         21  Mental Health for conducting this hearing,

         22  particularly Chairpersons Leffler and Clarke. It is

         23  vital that we work together to improve the public's

         24  safety and to improve the services we provide for

         25  the mentally ill population.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

          3  much for your statement, and best wishes to Bronx

          4  Borough President Ferrer.

          5                 MS. NEWMAN: Thank you.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Mr. Brescia?

          7                 MR. BRESCIA: Yes.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And then we will

          9  go on to the Busch family.

         10                 MR. BRESCIA: Thank you very much,

         11  Chairman Leffler.

         12                 I can skip through the first page in

         13  the interest of brevity. I am the Director of the

         14  Mental Health Project at the Urban Justice Center

         15  and we provide legal and social work services to

         16  homeless people with mental illness.

         17                 What I would like to discuss today

         18  are the three reputable ways the NYPD has become

         19  part of the mental health system:

         20                 First by attrition, with the collapse

         21  of the mental health system in New York State.

         22                 Second, by policy. With the Giuliani

         23  Administration's recently enacted paramilitary

         24  approach towards the street homeless.

         25                 And third, by legislation, with the
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          2  package of Kendra's Law, which grafted the police

          3  onto the statute to fulfill an enforcement role in

          4  outpatient treatment. And let me be clear, I do not

          5  blame the Police Department for the situation in

          6  which it finds itself, that is, as New York City's

          7  emergency psychiatric outreach team. Due to the

          8  realities it faces, however, the Department must

          9  accept that its current approach to dealing with

         10  people in emotional crisis is unacceptable and

         11  requires vast improvement at every level, from the

         12  academy to the precinct to the street, from the

         13  highest brass to your average beat cop, the police,

         14  as the first line of defense.

         15                 First, it should not be news to

         16  anyone that the mental health system in New York

         17  State has collapsed failing the mentally ill.

         18  Tragically, the impact of that failure is felt in

         19  every neighborhood throughout the state, as many of

         20  our friends and loved ones are unable to secure the

         21  assistance they need to flourish in the community.

         22  Because of that collapse, we are left with what is

         23  at best a triage system, where those who need the

         24  most help are shuttled from emergency room to

         25  emergency room at enormous expense.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            122

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 At the same time, the shelters swell

          3  with people with mental illness who would be far

          4  better served in assisted housing at a fraction of

          5  the cost of a hospital bed, a cot in a shelter or a

          6  cell in a prison. And what role do the police play

          7  in the mental health system? Because of the

          8  inability of an already strained mental health

          9  system to meet even basic needs of many New Yorkers

         10  with mental illness, the police have become the de

         11  facto emergency response team within that mental

         12  health system. In fact, according to its own

         13  numbers, in 1998, the NYPD responded to 64,000 EDP,

         14  or emotionally disturbed person calls, in that year.

         15  And this number is up from the previously reported

         16  36,000 for 1997. There is no question that this

         17  makes the NYPD the largest psychiatric outreach team

         18  in the world. And yet members of the police force

         19  are offered only 16 hours of training at the academy

         20  in how to deal with people with mental illness in

         21  crisis.

         22                 The NYPD does in fact have this

         23  specially trained emergency service unit, and

         24  officers from the ESU are contacted on every EDP

         25  call received.
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          2                 However, because they are not

          3  stationed in a decentralized way throughout each

          4  borough, ESU officers are never the first officers

          5  on the scene. And the first interaction with a

          6  person in crisis can literally mean the difference

          7  between life and death.

          8                 Moreover, far more often than not,

          9  ESU intervention is cancelled by the officers on the

         10  scene, as happened in almost 63,000, actually that

         11  is 62,000 or 64,000 EDP calls registered last year.

         12                 Sweeps of the street homeless and the

         13  criminalization of mental illness. Sixty-four

         14  thousand calls in a single year should be shocking,

         15  and I hope would serve as a wake-up call to all

         16  sectors of the community that the mental health

         17  system needs a better emergency response system to

         18  lower the number of such interaction and insure the

         19  mental health professionals and not the police must

         20  deal with such crises. But in a counter-intuitive

         21  measure the Mayor now wants to increase the

         22  interactions between the police and those with

         23  mental illness by dispatching squads to seek out the

         24  homeless and as is claimed get them to services.

         25                 That the Mayor would direct the NYPD
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          2  to look for more opportunities to deal with the

          3  mentally ill is, one, surprising, given the police

          4  really serve no legitimate social services function

          5  and should not have to; and two, simply astounding

          6  in light of the inadequacy of the training they

          7  received in carrying out such a function, especially

          8  with regard to dealing with the mentally ill.

          9                 But this approach to the homeless is

         10  consistent with the general trends we see in the

         11  mental health system. Just as the Police Department

         12  has become a part of the mental health system, so

         13  has the criminal just system become a means for

         14  sheltering the mentally ill.

         15                 Indeed, Rikers Island, the City's

         16  main jail, houses almost 4,000 individuals with

         17  serious and persistent mental illnesses a day. And

         18  it has become New York State's largest psychiatric

         19  facility.

         20                 Over 30,000 inmates receive

         21  psychiatric treatment on Rikers in a year, and

         22  roughly 15,000 of those suffer from serious and

         23  persistent mental illness. That is, 15 to 20 percent

         24  of the jail population generally.

         25                 Clearly, these inmates are not
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          2  walking across the bridge to Rikers Island

          3  themselves. They must have some interaction with the

          4  police before they get there.

          5                 Accordingly, although the Police

          6  Department might play down the arrest rate, the

          7  results from an interaction classifies as an EDP

          8  contact, obviously there are literally tens of

          9  thousands of instances in which the mentally ill are

         10  arrested and brought into the criminal justice

         11  system, whether the police choose to consider them

         12  EDPs or not.

         13                 Kendra's Law. Lastly, with the

         14  passage of Kendra's Law earlier in the year, the

         15  Police, by the black letter of the law, are charged

         16  with enforcing Kendra's orders, and according to the

         17  Department of Mental Health's own statistics, could

         18  be involved in enforcing up to 7,000 orders in New

         19  York City alone.

         20                 The overwhelming weight of the

         21  evidence is clear, the Police Department is

         22  inextricably intertwined with the mental health

         23  system. I certainly do not blame the police for

         24  this, and believe that if the Department had its

         25  way, it would choose to fix the mental health system
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          2  rather than retool itself to accommodate the needs

          3  of the mentally ill.

          4                 Without a massive redirection of

          5  resources throughout the State, however, the

          6  Department will continue to serve as the emergency

          7  psychiatric outreach team for New York City.

          8                 In recognition of this role, several

          9  steps are desperately needed. First, more and better

         10  training of the police academy, and you have heard a

         11  lot about that today. And second, the development of

         12  a network of crisis intervention officers in every

         13  precinct house, and you have heard a little bit

         14  about that, and I would like to add to that.

         15                 When looking for innovative ways to

         16  improve interactions between the police and mental

         17  health community, mention is often made of the

         18  crisis intervention model, also known as the Memphis

         19  Model, after the jurisdiction which this model was

         20  first developed.

         21                 Unlike the centrally located ESU, in

         22  Memphis specially trained crisis intervention team

         23  officers are deployed in a decentralized manner at

         24  each station house throughout the City. They are

         25  present on the scene involving someone in crisis and
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          2  they are familiar with and can access the resources

          3  of the mental health community.

          4                 Their work has brought down the

          5  arrest rate of people with mental illness, and more

          6  importantly, has reduced the number of police

          7  interactions with the mentally ill that result in

          8  violence.

          9                 While this model has been replicated

         10  in other jurisdictions, there is also similar

         11  precedent for it right here in New York City, as

         12  Council Member Watkins pointed out. In each precinct

         13  there are specially trained domestic violence police

         14  officers that work with the officers of the precinct

         15  house and victims of domestic violence after

         16  reported incidents of such violence.

         17                 There is no reason why similar

         18  accommodations cannot be made for people with mental

         19  illness, especially where the incidence of domestic

         20  violence actually outnumber by more than three to

         21  one, the number of EDP calls to which the NYPD

         22  responded last year. So the discussion saying that

         23  the Police Department and domestic violence officers

         24  that the mental health system can't use similar

         25  officers because of resources, it doesn't add up
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          2  because there are actually far more domestic

          3  violence calls last year than EDP calls.

          4                 Similarly, our office currently works

          5  with the 25th Precinct in Manhattan in the area of

          6  domestic violence, to follow up with the victims to

          7  provide them with counseling and support after their

          8  traumatic experience with domestic violence.

          9                 Although I applaud the fact that the

         10  police wish to make referrals to LifeNet, this

         11  program provides no follow-up care or ongoing

         12  services.

         13                 I would urge the Council to recommend

         14  the creation of a pilot program in the mental health

         15  field, similar to the one run by our office with

         16  victims of domestic violence.

         17                 Thanks for your time and today's

         18  hearing.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         20  much, Mr. Brescia. We will take your suggestions

         21  under consideration and try to formulate

         22  recommendations.

         23                 Thank you, all.

         24                 We now have Doris Busch Boskey, and

         25  Glenn Busch. Followed by Lorretta Cerbelli and
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          2  Carmen Giordano.

          3                 MS. BUSCH BOSKEY: Mr. Chairman, and

          4  whatever members are here of the Council, or anybody

          5  else who has come, I am here today because of

          6  something that happened on August 30th, just three

          7  and a half months ago, that changed my life and the

          8  lives of my family and many others forever.

          9                 While watching the 10:00 news in the

         10  evening, I found out that my son, Gary Busch, also

         11  known by his Hebrew name, Gidonee, was shot and

         12  killed outside his apartment in Borough Park. Four

         13  of the six police officers that surrounded him,

         14  standing at least six feet away or more, fired their

         15  guns hitting him 12 times, at approximately 6:50

         16  that evening. No officer was on the ground, not

         17  officer was in harm's way, there was one shot, a

         18  pause, and then the rest followed. No one knows who

         19  fired first. Phone calls made to the 66th Precinct

         20  that evening were never returned.

         21                 An official call came after 11:00

         22  that evening. No apologies, no explanations. He did

         23  not deserve to die. He would have been 32 this past

         24  Saturday, the Sabbath and the last day of Hanukkah.

         25                 One hour before this incident, police
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          2  were called to his apartment because of a

          3  disturbance. An ambulance was called by the

          4  volunteer patrol or shomars, but it was cancelled by

          5  the police. The police knew he was having an

          6  emotional crisis then. They yelled obscenities at

          7  him and were verbally abusive. Although he tried to

          8  shake their hands, they were angry and belligerent

          9  and refused to shake his hand. Six officers were

         10  there, as well as two shomers and others, when they

         11  were called back an hour later, for a disturbance at

         12  the same apartment, they should have been prepared.

         13  At least two of the six officers responded the

         14  second time, had been there earlier, they knew he

         15  had a problem. They knew he was an annoyance, not a

         16  danger. When they arrived he was not out on the

         17  street but was in his apartment with another person.

         18  He was wearing tefilin, worn when one prays, and

         19  holding a religious hammer with Hebrew writing on it

         20  inscribed with God's name.  He had been seen praying

         21  and meditating with it many times before. At this

         22  point, if they thought there was a problem, they

         23  should have left him alone in his apartment and

         24  waited for the emergency services unit or an

         25  ambulance who are better prepared to handle a crisis
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          2  situation.

          3                 However, what happened next is

          4  appalling and unbelievable. Within a short time

          5  after the police arrived on the scene, my son's life

          6  was taken away. First, the police dragged the other

          7  person out of the apartment. This person explained

          8  to them that the hammer Gary was holding was a

          9  religious object and not a weapon. It had writing on

         10  it.

         11                 In spite of all of the above, they

         12  proceeded to get Gary out of the apartment. As he

         13  stood at the bottom of the stairwell in front of the

         14  entrance to his tiny one-room apartment, and I do

         15  mean tiny, there wasn't even enough room really for

         16  a table and chairs, they sprayed him right in the

         17  face and eyes with pepper spray, causing him to

         18  scream in pain, fear and anguish, and unable to see

         19  or breathe. He did not have his glasses on. The

         20  police officers were on the steps and above him, and

         21  he did what anyone would do. He tried to get away

         22  from them, finding his way up the stairs and passed

         23  them. He still had his religious hammer in his

         24  hands.

         25                 Sergeant O'Brien, allegedly, struck
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          2  on those narrow stairs had a slight abrasion or

          3  scrape on one arm, probably from the brick walls on

          4  either side of the narrow stairs, it was not a

          5  hematoma from a hammer, a bruise. My son's body had

          6  multiple bruises. This Sergeant, who had also been

          7  there an hour earlier, fired 50 percent of the

          8  bullets. This same Sergeant had 12 civilian board

          9  complaints against him, two substantiated for

         10  excessive use of force.

         11                 As Gary stood approximately 16 feet

         12  from the stairway, holding his religious hammer, a

         13  rail thin 6'3" weighing only 159 pounds, they

         14  surrounded him, not speaking softly and calmly, as

         15  one would to a person in this state, but screaming

         16  at him, not backing away or giving him space. Six

         17  officers with guns drawn had to be more of a threat

         18  to my son than one thin man with a small religious

         19  hammer could have been to them.

         20                 What was their combined weight and

         21  physical condition? He didn't have a chance. He was

         22  treated like an animal, and he died like one. He was

         23  not a common criminal. He was not a killer. He had

         24  no hostages. He had no gun. He had no knife. People

         25  at the scene were shocked and outraged at what they

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            133

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  refer to as his execution. They say he was not, and

          3  I say not threatening anyone. He was the youngest of

          4  my three sons.

          5                 Within minutes the cover-up began and

          6  the spin on the story was created. The police and

          7  City officials falsely had him hitting a sergeant

          8  repeatedly with a claw hammer in order to justify

          9  his murder. They tried to portray him as a violent

         10  deranged person who was a danger, as they often do

         11  with the person who has emotional problems, equating

         12  those problems with violence. This is an unfortunate

         13  misconception creating a stigma for those who are

         14  the victims. He was not violent. However, there was

         15  almost no mention about the officers who fired those

         16  shots. Not a mention of the 32 combined civilian

         17  complaints against them.

         18                 What about their psychological

         19  profiles? Gary was warm, intelligent, creative and a

         20  very religious person with a strong belief in God.

         21  Before moving to Borough Park he had just finished

         22  courses in computer programming at Briarcliff

         23  College in December of 1998, where he was on Dean's

         24  list. He was loved and respected by his professors

         25  and friends there and here as well.
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          2                 After moving to Borough Park he

          3  designed three great web sites for people, and

          4  business cards for himself with the hopes of doing

          5  web design and programming as Gidone's Web. He

          6  completed one book of poetry and designed the cover

          7  about a month and a half before he was killed.

          8                 He told me he would often go to

          9  various places and watch people, then write about

         10  what he saw, about life, his experiences and about

         11  friends. It was like painting a palette with words

         12  instead of paints.

         13                 People who knew him continued to

         14  write to me about how special he was to them, how he

         15  touched their lives. He truly cared about people as

         16  can be seen from his poetry.

         17                 With help he could have been here

         18  today. He wanted to get a job, get married, have a

         19  family, and continue to listen to and play music and

         20  write poetry.

         21                 Emotional illness is very common in

         22  our society, and many of our most successful people

         23  have very similar problems. If you ask me what I

         24  want, it is accountability. I don't want his murder,

         25  his death to be another statistic. I also want
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          2  change. The resolution of the serious problems

          3  concerning the adequate training of our police

          4  officers in handling the emotionally ill and all

          5  people for that matter is of paramount importance.

          6                 First, I believe there should be

          7  proper screening of our officers, especially those

          8  who handle emergency situations.

          9                 Second, there should be proper

         10  training in dealing with people, especially those in

         11  an emotional crisis, certainly not with guns, but

         12  with the use of non-lethal equipment.

         13                 Third, and most important of all, the

         14  police should follow their own guidelines and

         15  training in dealing with emotionally disturbed

         16  people. They did not do so in my son's case, and I

         17  am sure they haven't done that in many other cases.

         18                 Fourth, I feel very strongly about

         19  this one, pepper spray should never be used in

         20  handling anyone in a crisis situation who is in a

         21  disturbed state. The pepper spray makes a person

         22  more anguished and causes undue paint and suffering

         23  and exacerbates the situation rather than calming

         24  things down.

         25                 Fifth, we talk about gun control for
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          2  our civilians, but we don't talk about gun control

          3  for our officers who deal with all kinds of

          4  situations.

          5                 There has to be some other way for

          6  our police officers to deal with people, especially

          7  those with emotional problems. We are all human

          8  beings, certainly negotiation, backing off and

          9  speaking calmly are some of the ways other officers

         10  have handled even the hard core criminals, killers,

         11  mad bombers and thieves. They are talked down and

         12  brought down, but not killed.

         13                 Gary would have been treated better

         14  if he were holding a hostage. My son and other

         15  mother's sons like mine didn't deserve to die. If it

         16  could happen to my son, it could happen to yours. It

         17  could happen to any one of us unless something is

         18  done right now to stop it. The victims are not just

         19  those who have been killed, it is those who have

         20  been left behind. We are all victims.

         21                 I am pleading with you in my son

         22  Gary's name. He wanted to make a difference. There

         23  is nothing that I can do to bring him back, only

         24  what I can do to help make changes in the future,

         25  and to find out why he was killed unnecessarily as
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          2  so many others before him. We must stop these abuses

          3  now.

          4                 What I did is I attached three of his

          5  poems and three of the letters of people who had

          6  known him and that is just a few of the many. He had

          7  finished this entire book of poetry and there were

          8  many, many letters, and I only hope that this is not

          9  in vain. And I thank you for the time that you have

         10  given me.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         12  much, Mrs. Busch Boskey. What happened to your son

         13  is really, I think, a great, great pitty and your

         14  statement was really poignant and had a lot of good

         15  material. Your son had a lot of really good

         16  qualities, so it really is --

         17                 MRS. BUSCH BOSKEY: A loss.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Not only a great

         19  loss to yourself, as you say, but he had a lot to

         20  contribute, and I am really sorry. I felt that way

         21  at the time, not just because you are here today.

         22                 MRS. BUSCH BOSKEY: It still seems

         23  like an unbelievable thing that happened, and I know

         24  it will happen again, and that is why I am here. I

         25  am not one to stand and speak. I am usually kind of
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          2  more of a quiet person, but I feel that this has to

          3  be said, and I think that if I can do something to

          4  help someone else, then, and if my son's death is

          5  not going to be in vain, I can't bring him back but

          6  maybe we can make a difference. I just hope that the

          7  police are here because I heard about all of these

          8  wonderful --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Sergeant Tuffy

         10  is here.

         11                 MRS. BUSCH BOSKEY: Well, I heard

         12  about all of these wonderful training programs, but

         13  I am really hoping that instead of talking about

         14  them and reading about them and reading books, that

         15  they really spend many more hours in training.

         16                 I know there is a Memphis Program

         17  that I think they tried to institute here and it was

         18  rejected.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Well, it was

         20  discussed. I mean, I think you heard this Police

         21  Department say they think the approach of the

         22  emergency service unit is more cost effective.

         23                 I hope we will be able to formulate

         24  recommendations and we will take this into account.

         25                 Mr. Busch.
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          2                 MR. BUSCH: Yes. Our concern is just

          3  certainly hearing today even, you are 20 feet away,

          4  Councilman Leffler, and you are going to be shot.

          5  Again, I hear that today and I say to myself they

          6  are sitting here and they are telling us that their

          7  systems work and I question that, again, the use of

          8  pepper spray, when it has been a well known fact

          9  that that is not recommended.

         10                 I think the important thing also to

         11  look at is the police officers themselves, they,

         12  themselves, go through emotional problems. Mr.

         13  Safir's top aid recently committed suicide, we all

         14  heard about that. They have a high level of suicide,

         15  a high level of depression. I am not here to say

         16  that all the police are bad, but there are some

         17  officers that do have problems, and certainly early

         18  signs --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: When you have

         20  40,000 people of any profession you are going to

         21  have some people who have sometimes a problem.

         22                 MR. BUSCH: Absolutely. In this case I

         23  think the early signs are the CCRB violations, which

         24  the group unfortunately that greeted Gary had an

         25  inordinate amount of CCRB violations, and a history
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          2  possibly of losing their temper in that situation.

          3  We have every right to demand respect and

          4  accountability from our officers because they have

          5  the power to take a human life. They have the power

          6  to play God, and we have absolutely every right to

          7  scrutinize them and to question them.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I agree, and try

          9  to make improvements.

         10                 My own view of things is that

         11  unfortunately in a big City like New York, with

         12  seven and a half million people and millions of

         13  people who come here on a regular basis, there are

         14  tragedies that occur and one could say more, but as

         15  the police said, this may be in litigation, so I

         16  will refrain from saying more at this time.

         17                 MRS. BUSCH BOSKEY: They were there

         18  also an hour before and they --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think it was a

         20  great pity. Even in a sense it is a

         21  malcomprehension, as I tried to allude. I mean,

         22  somebody who really understood him better I think

         23  might have reacted somewhat differently with the

         24  tefilin, as you say, and with his chants and stuff

         25  like that. And that is what shows that it is so
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          2  difficult to understand the range of people in New

          3  York.

          4                 I went to a function, a religious

          5  function, about two months ago, there were ministers

          6  of one sort or another, religious leaders from about

          7  16 different groups right next to me, one next to

          8  another. I mean, how could I possibly understand all

          9  of their fates. And unfortunately in New York a lot

         10  of people don't fully understand always what is

         11  going on, including myself probably.

         12                 MR. BUSCH: Just common sense dictates

         13  in the situation that this never should have

         14  happened.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Another one of

         16  my own views is, never do something which is

         17  irreversible, while you are trying to continue with

         18  things. I apply it in different principles, areas of

         19  my own life, and I think that is one of the things

         20  is to just bend over backwards to try to deal with

         21  things other than an irreversible way.

         22                 A lot more could be said but this is

         23  not the time to do it.

         24                 MRS. BUSCH BOSKEY: I was wondering,

         25  they said they talked to people in the neighborhood,
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          2  who did they talk to? They were right next door,

          3  they could have talked to anybody.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: More may come

          5  out.

          6                 MRS. BUSCH BOSKEY: Thank you. Thank

          7  you very much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I hope we will

          9  do justice to the tragedy that happened here in a

         10  report.

         11                 Loretta Cerbello, Carmen Giordano.

         12                 It is great to see you again, Carmen.

         13  Welcome.

         14                 For those of you who don't know, Mr.

         15  Giordano was the Counsel to this Committee, how many

         16  years ago?

         17                 MR. GIORDANO: Quite a few years ago,

         18  I guess. Five years ago.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Welcome.

         20                 MS. CERBELLO: Good afternoon, Council

         21  Member Sheldon Leffler and Council Member Una

         22  Clarke, and other Council members present. Thank you

         23  for inviting me to testify at this hearing, Police

         24  Response to Emotionally Disturbed Persons.

         25                 My name is Loretta Cerbelli, and my
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          2  affiliation is with the Kevin Cerbelli Coalition.

          3                 I am Kevin Cerbelli's mother. I

          4  fought for many years to obtain proper medical and

          5  psychiatric care for Kevin. Shortly before Kevin was

          6  surrounded inside the 110th Precinct, October 25th,

          7  1998, he had been dumped out of his hospitalization

          8  in Elmhurst Psychiatric Unit against my wishes. He

          9  had also been turned away by emergency room staff

         10  soon after.

         11                 The police themselves are aware of

         12  how flawed the system is when time after time they

         13  are called upon to interact with the mentally

         14  disabled population on a daily basis.

         15                 It is they who must intervene and

         16  interact with this population and are fully aware of

         17  the need for adequate training. They are not the

         18  only ones fully aware of this.

         19                 My son did not warrant several police

         20  shooting at him as if they were at target practice

         21  in the middle of the 110th Precinct, with dozens of

         22  police present. It is hard to believe that the

         23  police had no recourse to kill him when there are so

         24  many alternatives available to them to preserve

         25  human life.
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          2                 Allegedly a police person fell and a

          3  barrage of bullets echoed throughout that building

          4  and approximately one hour later my son was

          5  pronounced dead at Elmhurst Hospital.

          6                 Kevin was shot twice in the back,

          7  along with other gunshot wounds he sustained. He was

          8  helplessly slaughtered and this was determined

          9  "justifiable homicide." Justifiable because those

         10  who murdered him are protected by the elite,

         11  above-the-law group of City employees wearing badges

         12  of the NYPD.

         13                 Justifiable homicide, Gary Busch,

         14  exterminated at the count of three while in the

         15  midst of a mental crisis, and because a police

         16  person allegedly fell in his presence. The list of

         17  cold-blooded murders and abuses of this population

         18  goes on and on. These victims' spirit cry out in

         19  unison for justice.

         20                 Life is a cherished gift, especially

         21  your child's. We watch him grow, our eyes filled

         22  with love and pride, we anticipate his future and

         23  happiness. Unforeseen events can occur during the

         24  start of his adult life and result in his mind now

         25  functioning and entering the realm of mental
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          2  debilitation, pain, worry and fear for your child's

          3  safety and future, intensifies and weighs heavily

          4  within your heart. Your goal is to procure safety

          5  through placement, to guarantee his future when you

          6  were gone. You are his parents, protector, mentor

          7  and advocate. You battle a failing system for

          8  adequate services, pleading for placement and

          9  appropriate medication. He is not doing well on new

         10  medication and living on his own for the first time

         11  in his life. Fear for him intensifies and becomes an

         12  every day part of your life. Clinical staff refuses

         13  to listen, you pray God, please be his protector, to

         14  serve and protect - how ironic, this is New York

         15  PD's motto - why is it so many of the NYPD have

         16  strayed from this pledge for and of it for our loved

         17  ones in mental crisis?

         18                 Too many incompetents in uniform,

         19  ignorance, a contemptuous blatant disregard of human

         20  life, unprincipled and inadequate training are the

         21  inner structure of the NYPD regarding the mentally

         22  disabled population.

         23                 Traumatized families whose loved ones

         24  are horrifically, tragically and unjustly terminated

         25  at the hands of the new NYPD are shocked, stupefied,
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          2  horrorstruck and infuriated at these decisions of

          3  justifiable homicide. Justice is beyond blind in New

          4  York City. It seems restrained, prejudice and

          5  protective of the NYPD's wrongdoings.

          6                 Families suffering is

          7  incomprehensible when witnessing officials applaud

          8  the NYPD for a job well done and concluding good

          9  judgment rendered for slaughtering our children. A

         10  barrage of bullets for being in the midst of a

         11  mental crisis? Where is the rationale? We, the

         12  families of these victims, are jolted awake each day

         13  to face the anguish, heartbreak and the unfeasible

         14  stark reality that our child is missing from our

         15  lives due to these preposterous crimes by the

         16  police.

         17                 Where is the humanity" how can a

         18  barrage of bullets even be tolerated as an

         19  acceptable or an appropriate solution?

         20                 It is barbaric that members of the

         21  NYPD are congratulated for using unnecessary

         22  excessive force. Your family is forced to endure an

         23  unexcusable display of callousness while murderers

         24  in uniform are patted on the back for the ghastly

         25  cold-blooded murders they have taken part in.
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          2                 Our City Hall appears to be a

          3  fortress and is an insult and embarrassment to every

          4  citizen of this City. The NYPD seems to be currently

          5  hiring mercenaries brandishing guns to form an army

          6  to keep us all at bay. Are the mentally disabled,

          7  homeless and every citizen the enemy? Our City's

          8  Mayor and Police Commissioner's lack of conscience

          9  and concern for the mentally disabled are the

         10  ramifications of the horrid, intolerable state of

         11  endangerment they must endure each day.

         12                 Why is it that denial, cover-ups and

         13  distortion of the truth are prevalent and condoned

         14  in the countless cases of the mentally disabled and

         15  others being battered, berated, abused and murdered

         16  at the hands of the NYPD?

         17                 Irrational logic and pathetic

         18  judgment is the result of the mentally disabled

         19  being arrested for being homeless. Due to the

         20  absence of discharge planning by hospitals, these

         21  people lack housing. If they are not capable of

         22  working slave labor for shelter, shelters will cast

         23  them out onto the streets to be arrested again.

         24                 Solutions to a problem? I think not.

         25  Incompetence of problem-solving is overwhelmingly
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          2  apparent.

          3                 It is imperative that the NYPD

          4  abandon its war against everyone and focus on the

          5  preservation of human life. Our Mayor and Police

          6  Commissioner need to confront reality, serious

          7  problems do exist within the NYPD, such as members

          8  of the honorable mentally disabled population being

          9  preyed upon.

         10                 Cease the denial and initiate

         11  formidable action to remedy the NYPD's pathetic

         12  present day policies towards this population.

         13                 It is time that over loved ones'

         14  lives are respected, protected and not annihilated

         15  while in the midst of a mental crisis.

         16                 The NYPD is void of utilizing the

         17  many alternatives to murder and bullets they

         18  possess. Weeding out incompetents in uniform is a

         19  priority and a necessity. This group are abusing the

         20  badges other members of the NYPD respect.

         21                 My son Kevin was deprived of his

         22  right to life, liberty and his pursuit of happiness.

         23  This was his birth right, as it was for so many

         24  others whose lives were tragically, needlessly and

         25  senselessly ended at the hands of the NYPD. Too many
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          2  families' lives being shattered and torn apart

          3  because these murderers and abusers are shielded

          4  behind NYPD badges and they are not subject to the

          5  laws by which we all govern.

          6                 It is appalling what this population

          7  is being subjected to. And our Mayor and our Police

          8  Commissioner continually refuse to acknowledge this.

          9  These same officials refuse to implement adequate

         10  police training which is in dire need to protect and

         11  preserve the lives of the mentally disabled and

         12  others. They consistently refuse to divulge the

         13  format of training being provided at the police

         14  academy regarding this population.

         15                 I feel there is a need for the

         16  federal government to intervene and restore sanity,

         17  humanity and conscience within our NYPD and our

         18  City. Our Mayor continually refuses to abide by the

         19  laws of our land and the constitution of our

         20  country. He is not holding true to the oath of

         21  office he swore to when appointed Mayor of our City.

         22                 I fell his reign of terror should be

         23  brought to a halt by our federal government.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         25  much.
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          2                 Mr. Giordano.

          3                 MR. GIORDANO: Yes, thank you, Council

          4  Members. Thank you very much for holding this

          5  hearing. If it is okay with you, I would like to

          6  just submit my testimony, which I have already done,

          7  rather than read the whole thing.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Yes.

          9                 MR. GIORDANO: A couple of things I

         10  would like to say, one is, just to echo Mr. Busch's

         11  statement, the statistics are very overwhelming and

         12  clearly point to the fact that there are a large

         13  number of emotionally disturbed persons or mentally

         14  ill persons in our society, in our jails, that

         15  intersect with the Police Department. It is going to

         16  be that way inevitably, and therefore, it is very

         17  clear, the need for our police officers to be

         18  equipped, mentally, attitudinally, if I may coin a

         19  word, and as well as is to be armed with the

         20  necessary devices of minimal force, and deadly

         21  physical force, if necessary.

         22                 I think, though, one of the reasons I

         23  don't want to read this whole statement is after

         24  listening to the testimony of the police officers, I

         25  am a little bit amazed. You know, I have represented
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          2  police officers who have shot and killed emotionally

          3  disturbed persons as an Assistant Corporation

          4  Counsel --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I know. That is

          6  why I was surprised to see you on this side. Because

          7  that is what I recall you having done before you

          8  came to the Council as our counsel.

          9                 MR. GIORDANO: Right. Actually, it was

         10  after I left the Council.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: You left there

         12  to go there.

         13                 MR. GIORDANO: Correct.

         14                 But I think the NYPD, and they don't

         15  like to be told what to do, either advocates or

         16  mental health professionals or politicians, or

         17  whatever, and I can understand that to a large

         18  extent, but the questions that the Council Members

         19  pose to the representatives of the NYPD indicate an

         20  understanding on their part of what the problem is.

         21                 Perhaps it is an attitude of combat

         22  readiness or a confrontational attitude, that all

         23  this training that we heard about that just sounds

         24  so perfect hasn't given the results that you would

         25  expect it to give. And a couple of the statements
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          2  that were made, Mr. Brescia told me about the

          3  Memphis model, the CIT program, I would call upon

          4  the Council to establish a committee, or not a

          5  committee, I am sorry, a commission or a task force

          6  to study this problem. Just given the numbers I

          7  think it is very important, given Kendra's law that

          8  is coming up, we will see more and more interaction

          9  between the police and mentally ill people. It is

         10  essential that there be a nexus established between

         11  four components, the Police Department, the mental

         12  health professionals, National Alliance for the

         13  Mentally Ill, representatives of family members of

         14  people with mental illness and the mentally ill

         15  people themselves, and one of the things that the

         16  captain said. He said that the CIT program, I wrote

         17  this down in quotes, is not practical just because

         18  of the shear volume of EDP. This makes absolutely no

         19  sense whatsoever.

         20                 And that is why I think it would be

         21  appropriate for this Committee and the Subcommittee

         22  to form a task force and to really make a little bit

         23  more of an effort to get to the truth, rather than

         24  the doublespeak that was presented by the Police

         25  Department. Why is it not practical because of the
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          2  shear volume? The CIT program would establish each

          3  and every shift there would be a police officer who

          4  had been specially trained to respond quickly. ESU

          5  does not get there within five minutes. Given the

          6  number of calls they receive each year, the number

          7  of calls there are for emotionally disturbed

          8  persons, the number of ESU personnel that are our

          9  there, it is painfully obvious that they don't get

         10  there for each EDP call within five minutes. That is

         11  nonsense. And it is appalling that they should tell

         12  you that.

         13                 But if I may, the reason why that

         14  statement is nonsense, that is not practical just

         15  because of the shear volume of EDP, it is because

         16  there would be more officers on the precinct level,

         17  each and every precinct, each and every shift of

         18  each and every year that would be able to respond

         19  immediately to deal with emotionally disturbed

         20  persons. And these people can be trained by the

         21  mental health providers in a very cost effective

         22  way.

         23                 When Ray Brescia told me about this

         24  program, I called the Memphis Police Department. I

         25  spoke to them, I gather their literature, and it is
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          2  a very effective program that is being instituted

          3  and has been instituted in San Jose, Albuquerque,

          4  Seattle, Portland, Houston is in the process of

          5  implementing it.

          6                 So, I think the other thing that the

          7  Captain said, that it was not cost effective, we

          8  determined that the citizens of New York, it is not

          9  the best return on their investment, that is

         10  absolute nonsense, because as each of those cities

         11  has found, it is very cost effective. So, perhaps

         12  because the Police Department doesn't like to be

         13  told what to do, and I emphathize completely with

         14  the officers, because they have a very difficult

         15  job, we are going to see more tragedies like this,

         16  because they refuse to have an understanding of what

         17  people with mental illness have to go through. They

         18  refuse to have an understanding of what the mental

         19  health system is about and accept the inevitable

         20  that they are going to have to deal with people with

         21  mental illness.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Can I just say a

         23  couple of things?

         24                 Listening to testimony here, I often

         25  don't feel I have the time to say what I think of a
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          2  lot of the testimony -- not yours, I am not talking

          3  about yours -- that I get in the course of hearings,

          4  but you do have to exercise the critical judgement

          5  on it, and I think you have.

          6                 Secondly, it is not within my power

          7  or our power to appoint the task force, but I will

          8  try again, as I have done many times in the course

          9  of this year and recent years, to ask the speaker's

         10  office for more intellectual resources and more

         11  assistance. I think the people who we have prepared

         12  for this hearing have done a good job and are

         13  strained to do it, but I think it does merit a

         14  report and recommendations and that requires more

         15  involvement, and I think, you know, you put your

         16  finger on a lot of thing which at the least raise

         17  questions. They raised questions at the time, why is

         18  it not cost-effective? You know, that is the case.

         19                 MR. GIORDANO: Absolutely.

         20                 I just want to thank also the

         21  Counsels to the Committee, Mr. Becker and Mr. Smith,

         22  I think they did a tremendous job.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I just want to

         24  say, Mr. Chairman, that we have a task force that we

         25  work with, because that is the only way I can be

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            156

          1  PUBLIC SAFETY AND MENTAL HEALTH

          2  effective of the work that I do, and we discussed

          3  today what was possible for us to do legislatively,

          4  and asked Carl to take a look at what it is we might

          5  be able to do legislatively because I recognize what

          6  the answer was going to be from the Police

          7  Department. They always have enough resources, they

          8  always have enough of everything, except when it is

          9  time for performance, we just don't see the

         10  relationship between what they learn and how they

         11  act. And sometimes you can't legislate goodness in

         12  the heart of anyone, but you can force them to do

         13  that which is right. And we have been exploring some

         14  of those, and so I just want you to know that

         15  today's hearing is not an exercise, as far as I am

         16  concerned. It was good that we do it with Public

         17  Safety, because that is an issue, and we will share

         18  everything we know with the Council member and

         19  together we will see what is possible to get done,

         20  what kind of money it is going to take. I am still

         21  insisting that the police need to have more in depth

         22  training than they do right now. I can't see a

         23  police officer in the street in less than a year,

         24  and every time you talk they talk about cost and

         25  cost effectiveness - you can't buy a life, as far as
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          2  I am concerned. You can't put a cost on the life of

          3  somebody who has lost their life at the end of a gun

          4  who has been ill.

          5                 So, we are going to make our

          6  argument, we are going to work together to make our

          7  argument and between now and the budget time we will

          8  see what we do.

          9                 Thank you very much.

         10                 MR. GIORDANO: There are a lot of

         11  people in the community who very much appreciate the

         12  work that you are doing in this area.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you. Good

         14  to see you again. Best wishes.

         15                 We have a number of representatives

         16  from Fountain House. If you could all come up but

         17  with one spokesman, if possible, because we are in a

         18  time bind today.

         19                 Those people for whom we have got

         20  cards are Fred Levine, Jill Wilson, John Rivera,

         21  Joshua Galet, and Paul -- is it Kessler?

         22                 To be on standby for our next

         23  witnesses are Benjamin Allen and Constance Lesold.

         24                 Will you identify yourselves for the

         25  record.
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          2                 MS. WILSON: My name is Jill Wilson.

          3  Good afternoon, Chairman Leffler, Chairman Clarke

          4  and Council members and staff. I am the coordinator

          5  of the Fountain House Police Mental Health Consumer

          6  Training Initiative. Since 1948, the Fountain House

          7  model in which members and staff work side by side

          8  has facilitated recovery and rehabilitation. Today,

          9  Fountain House leads an international network of

         10  more than 300 clubhouses in 20 nations around the

         11  world.

         12                 Joining me today are Kenneth Dudak,

         13  our Executive Director, Esther Martinez, the

         14  Director of Special Projects and the Commissioner of

         15  Human Rights of the City of New York, Paul Bohnet,

         16  Joshua Galet, John Rivera and Paul Kessler, members

         17  of our advocacy center, and Fred Levine, Counsel to

         18  the Executive Director.

         19                 In 1996, I witnessed the beating of a

         20  Fountain House member by a group of police officers.

         21  While that memory remains with me, I can't describe

         22  it as tragic, certainly not as compared to other

         23  events described at this hearing.

         24                 I would like to describe another

         25  memory that remains with me, a positive one.
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          2                 Following the beating, Esther

          3  Martinez, Fred Levine and Morris Holmes, with the

          4  assistance of our local Midtown North Precinct,

          5  began the Police Mental Health Training Program.

          6                 The were invited to morning roll call

          7  meetings where police officers and mental health

          8  consumers talked about personal experiences.

          9  Together they began to reduce the distortions,

         10  exaggerations, that prevent us all from relating to

         11  each other as people.

         12                 Mental illness is part of our history

         13  and popular culture, yet its images are often

         14  exaggerated. Who is not familiar with these hurtful

         15  names and labels - crazy, whacko, looney, nuts and

         16  homeless mentally ill?

         17                 Who has not used these names to

         18  define those who are different?

         19                 Police officers are also part of our

         20  history and popular culture, and the images of

         21  police officers are likewise often exaggerated. Who

         22  is not familiar with these hurtful names and labels

         23  - fascist and pig? Are these names and images

         24  mean-spirited? Are they accurate? We don't think

         25  they are accurate. Unfortunately, many mental health
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          2  consumers and police officers do. We believe that

          3  training is the answer, and we respectfully propose

          4  a three-part plan:

          5                 First, the Commissioner of Police

          6  should be required to disclose to your committees

          7  complete details of its current mental health

          8  program, for new officers, and its follow-up

          9  training for on-line officers.

         10                 A freedom of information request for

         11  such information was made by the Urban Justice

         12  Center, and no information was supplied.

         13                 Second, the Commissioner of Police

         14  should facilitate --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think that's a

         16  good point, let me just say. I think to do this job

         17  adequately we need to get the detail of what they

         18  said were, you know, Lord knows how many hours, 150

         19  hours or so of training. You know, because this

         20  generally, you know, relevant background and there

         21  is direct training and I think we have to sort of

         22  see the detail.

         23                 MS. WILSON: Absolutely.

         24                 Second, the Commissioner of Police

         25  should facilitate and help fund an expansion of
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          2  Fountain House-styled mental health training

          3  initiatives by mental health consumer groups

          4  throughout the City of New York.

          5                 Third, the Commissioner of Police

          6  should include mental health consumers and family

          7  members in the Police Academy training program.

          8                 Today you can learn how police

          9  officers are currently being trained. Today you can

         10  facilitate programs that will bring mental health

         11  consumers and police officers together.

         12                 Today you can help prevent future

         13  tragedy. Remembering at all times that no one group

         14  has a monopoly on tragedy, and that by working

         15  together we may be able to prevent further tragedy.

         16                 Thank you for giving us an

         17  opportunity to appear before you.

         18                 Thank you for your commitment to

         19  study and improve police mental health training for

         20  all New Yorkers.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         22  much, Ms. Wilson. We will try to incorporate your

         23  suggestions here in terms of relating to the Police

         24  Department, seeking information from them and trying

         25  to improve our dealing with mentally ill and
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          2  emotionally disturbed people.

          3                 MR. LEVINE: And if I may, Chairman --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Identify

          5  yourself for the record. I think I know who you are.

          6                 MR. LEVINE: Fred Levine. I hope you

          7  would also take into consideration the

          8  recommendation that mental health consumers be part

          9  of the training, including families at the Academy.

         10                 What we heard earlier today was much

         11  theoretical training, but we feel that when people

         12  get to know each other face-to-face, the tragedies

         13  that have been discussed today are less likely to

         14  occur.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I think it is a

         16  good suggestion, for a number of reasons, including

         17  I always believe in trying to incorporate people who

         18  are your critics into the operation of the agency

         19  because by doing that I think we can try to deal

         20  with them, deal with their problems, diffuse the

         21  criticisms, so I think it serves a lot of functions.

         22  We will make that point, and we will see how the

         23  Police Department reacts to that.

         24                 We are under at time constraint --

         25                 MR. LEVINE: Thanks very much.
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          2                 MS. WILSON: Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you for

          4  waiting.

          5                 Okay, we have Benjamin Allen and

          6  Constance Lesold.

          7                 Who wants to go first?

          8                 MS. LESOLD: My name is Constance

          9  Lesold, and I am a part of something called the

         10  Brooklyn Mental Hygiene Court Monitors Project,

         11  which has been in existence in the Brooklyn Mental

         12  Hygiene Court, State Supreme Court for the last two

         13  years. It has involved from 50 to 100 people, in

         14  reviewing the operations of the court itself.

         15                 In the process of this work we have

         16  had the opportunity to interview and see many police

         17  officers interacting in a very specialized setting

         18  with people who have been brought in on warrants and

         19  elsewhere and in that setting they have been

         20  uniformly, it would seem almost, well trained,

         21  considerate of the people that they have brought in,

         22  and in many cases more understanding perhaps than

         23  the rest of the court, in our opinion, I think,

         24  because in many ways they share common culture with

         25  the people that they are bringing in.
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          2                 I cannot, in my own head be clear

          3  about why it is that people can be so considerate in

          4  one setting, and out of that same band of similarly

          5  trained people, become killers in another setting.

          6  That is something that I hope the Police Department,

          7  though, will face and look at critically and try to

          8  incorporate into their training.

          9                 I don't think it is just the matter

         10  of a few bad eggs. I think they might want to start

         11  with their definition of mental health. And I am

         12  very serious about this.

         13                 At the turn of the century, and up

         14  until World War II, and probably the leading

         15  psychiatrist was Sigmund Freud, his definition of

         16  mental health was the ability to love and to work.

         17                 Following World War II, when I was in

         18  Psychology Department in College, the definition

         19  given to me by my professor of clinical psychology,

         20  who admittedly was Jewish, was the ability in

         21  difficult times to hold one's head together and

         22  stand apart from society.

         23                 I think that definition was an

         24  outcome of the Holocaust, I have no question about

         25  it. Now I find myself coming down here at the turn
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          2  of the century again, and being given a definition

          3  of mental health as the ability to integrate into

          4  society. I don't know what that means, but I will

          5  give you just a couple of examples of how

          6  complicated that is.

          7                 Out of our work, I will give you one

          8  example that I feel quite comfortable in giving you

          9  in this public setting because the person involved

         10  gave me permission to discuss his case at a variety

         11  of levels. This was someone who was a black

         12  individual who was staying in a white neighborhood

         13  in Brooklyn and I believe at the instigation of

         14  that, why the police were called, because he was

         15  testing out some performance on the street.

         16                 The police came, this was a person

         17  with no history of violence, no history of anything,

         18  and was not holding any kind of weapon or doing

         19  anything violent on the street, and they Taser'd him

         20  and carried him off to Woodhull Hospital.

         21                 When he came before the Mental

         22  Hygiene Court, those of us who were monitoring at

         23  the time were quite perturbed about the conditions

         24  of this case and when out to visit him and brought

         25  in the Center for Law and Social Justice of Medgar
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          2  Evers College, who placed him in their study of

          3  Tasers, and I would suggest in the future that you

          4  contact Medgar Evers, that center, for such

          5  hearings.

          6                 Out of that I came to recognize that

          7  although the Taser may seem very simple, and just a

          8  slight shock, the Taser can kill people who unknown

          9  to the police officer may have a heart condition,

         10  may have a pacer, et cetera, et cetera. I am not an

         11  expert on that, but I think that in your discussions

         12  with the police and your considerations, you must be

         13  very careful of approving anything like the Tasers

         14  and the pepper sprays.

         15                 I might say that when the Center for

         16  Law and Social Justice sent a representative out to

         17  the hospital to visit, the man was released the next

         18  day. He went back to his job at Brooklyn Hospital

         19  and was put back on the job the next day. So that I

         20  think that you really do have to look very

         21  critically at the role that racial prejudice and the

         22  power of service providers play, and many, many

         23  other things in bringing the Police Department into

         24  action on a case.

         25                 I will give you another case out of
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          2  Crown Heights of a woman, because we have mainly

          3  heard of men who got arrested by the police of

          4  course, for arguing with her dry cleaner down in

          5  Metrotech.

          6                 She was a small black woman, not all

          7  that dressed up that day, a Jihovas Witness, and it

          8  was late in the day and the owner of the dry

          9  cleaners wanted to go home and he called the police,

         10  and despite the displeasure of onlookers, she was

         11  carried off to the Police Department, who were not

         12  quite sure what to do with her. They took her to the

         13  hospital where she was tested for all kinds of

         14  things. Eventually she went to Rikers Island and to

         15  Elmhurst and to Kings Borough Hospital where she was

         16  going to be in long term care.

         17                 The citizens of Crown Heights

         18  appeared in court in her interest and she did get

         19  out of the hospital. But initially the Attorney

         20  General's Office actually wanted to appeal this

         21  case, and the head of the hospital at that time told

         22  me that he didn't care why she was in the hospital.

         23  They brought her there, she was there, they had to

         24  do something with her.

         25                 I told him, you may not care, sir,
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          2  why people are in your hospital. The people in the

          3  community do care.

          4                 I personally believe that this was

          5  another example where culture and racial prejudice

          6  were playing into the arrest of someone for minor

          7  things that adds to this 64,000 calls and this kind

          8  of impression that everybody in New York City is

          9  going crazy.

         10                 You know, I don't think that we can

         11  deal with all of our problems through force, through

         12  calling people emotionally ill, through saying that

         13  20 percent of us are this, that and the other. We do

         14  not want the creation here, I think, of a

         15  therapeutic state that will give almost all of us a

         16  diagnosis, because all of you out of your political

         17  acquaintances, I am quite sure know people, I

         18  certainly do, and I am not going to name them here.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I do too.

         20                 MS. LESOLD: That could get a

         21  diagnosis much more serious than the examples that I

         22  am giving.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: It is also a

         24  point that different people at different stages of

         25  their lives develop emotional disturbance, mental
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          2  illness and therefore, you know, we are all happy

          3  about how we are today, but we don't know how we are

          4  going to be umpteen years from now.

          5                 MS. LESOLD: That's right.

          6                 In the case of the woman who I

          7  mentioned being arrested for arguing with her dry

          8  cleaner, this is a Haitian family, and the though of

          9  a perhaps well-intended truck coming out to her home

         10  to visit her in the middle of the night, is

         11  culturally unacceptable. I think everybody here has

         12  heard of the Zinglando (phonetic), they have heard

         13  of the TaTa McKoot (phonetic). We are all much more

         14  culturally educated than we want to admit when it

         15  comes to setting up these plans. You can't do that

         16  with the Haitian community.

         17                 You know, it is the blind leading the

         18  blind in many cases when it comes to the therapeutic

         19  community instructing the police. The therapeutic

         20  community themselves are totally insensitive to a

         21  lot of the cultural aspects.

         22                 Just to give you one example, and I

         23  know it is late, I am going to stop. But I have a

         24  friend who was a leader in the cultural community,

         25  in the Haitian community, who is now unfortunately
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          2  suffering with Alzheimer's disease. Researchers came

          3  to her home unannounced, uncalled, to question her

          4  about everything in her life.

          5                 I imagine that they had good

          6  intentions, but she and her family were absolutely

          7  terrified as to who these people were and why they

          8  were coming out to ask all of those questions and

          9  couldn't believe that people would just show up at

         10  the door without even calling ahead of time.

         11                 So, you know, I beg of you in your

         12  work to challenge the whole picture. The Police

         13  Department opposed Kendra's Law initially. They

         14  opposed Bellevue's outpatient special pilot project,

         15  they took years before they would agree to pick up

         16  people who had a psychiatric designation because

         17  they knew that most of them were not dangerous. We

         18  don't want to push them into a cliff where they are

         19  saying now that most of them are dangerous, and I

         20  would say that the police that I have talked with

         21  officially from the top on down, they still don't

         22  like Kendra's Law. And I don't know how we put it

         23  together, but politicians, the service providers, be

         24  they psychiatrists on down, and the Police

         25  Department are going to have to get together and
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          2  realize our, both what we do know better than we

          3  want to admit, and what we don't know and come up

          4  with a program that as you were trying to get, will

          5  at least keep people alive both on the streets and

          6  in the hospitals where they do die, I am sorry to

          7  say, on occasion, because for example their medical

          8  problems are not diagnosed and they are just given a

          9  psychiatric designation and that's it.

         10                 Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you, Ms.

         12  Lesold.

         13                 MR. ALLEN: Good afternoon. I will be

         14  brief. I just wanted to say that I am a survivor of

         15  mental health services and I have had mental illness

         16  since I was a child. I graduated from school, I went

         17  to college and I have had a couple of episodes over

         18  the last few years. I was abused by a police officer

         19  when I was wandering the streets. I don't have a

         20  record, I have never been incarcerated, and the

         21  officer punched me in my ear and just left me alone.

         22  I was like 95 percent out of reality, but I was

         23  never a violent person, and that was incident.

         24                 And I wanted to say how many

         25  incidents have occurred to people with mental
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          2  illness that nobody talks about or even knows

          3  because they never complain because there are no

          4  other witnesses around.

          5                 I also had an incident when I was

          6  going to college. The officer gave me a ticket,

          7  saying that I never paid, that I snuck through the

          8  train turnstyle. I had money in my pocket, and I had

          9  tokens, and eventually the case was dropped. Those

         10  are just unregistered incidents that have occurred

         11  to me and how many have been killed and no one

         12  really knows what really happened because they had

         13  mental illness.

         14                 I believe that they need more

         15  sensitivity training, especially with consumers who

         16  are consumer survivors and are now working as

         17  providers. They now have a new job description where

         18  they have peer specialists and peer advocates, who

         19  work in self-help programs and mobile crisis

         20  programs that work in the hospitals and they run,

         21  facilitate groups with other peers, and I think the

         22  police need to get involved and see what happens in

         23  self help programs, in the hospitals where peers,

         24  specialists and advocates speak with consumers who

         25  are going to be released from the hospital, to get
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          2  them involved in programs and make sure that they

          3  have a place to stay and that they are taking their

          4  medication. These police officers need to sit in

          5  these forums to understand exactly what is going on

          6  and what kind of services and how consumers interact

          7  with consumers and how providers interact with

          8  consumers when there is a crisis situation. And if

          9  they have a base, say like usually in one of these

         10  programs, or these hospitals have a base when they

         11  arrest a consumer who is having an outburst, they

         12  can kind of get a better understanding of what is

         13  going on.

         14                 That's all I have to say.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: Thank you very

         16  much, Mr. Allen.

         17                 Thanks to everybody who testified and

         18  worked in preparation for this, and we will try to

         19  follow up.

         20                 The next meeting of the Public Safety

         21  Committee is going to be on January 6th, and then we

         22  have three meetings scheduled thereafter, every two

         23  weeks - January 20th, two weeks later at the

         24  beginning of February, two weeks later in late

         25  February.
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          2                 Do you want to say anything, Una?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: No, Mr. Chairman.

          4  I just want to thank you very much for both the time

          5  you put in --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: I like working

          7  with you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: -- As well as the

          9  quality of the work.

         10                 Thank you very much.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON LEFFLER: And happy

         12  holidays to everybody, and a happy new year to all.

         13  Thank you very much. This meeting is concluded.

         14                 (Hearing concluded at 4:35 p.m.)
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